
Please ask for  Julie Britton DDI (01362) 656343 
e-mail: julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk 

 

 
AGENDA 

 
 
 

NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only 

 
 
 

Committee - LOCAL PLAN WORKING GROUP 

Date & Time - MONDAY, 4TH AUGUST, 2014 AT 
11.00 AM 

Venue - NORFOLK ROOM, THE 
CONFERENCE SUITE, DEREHAM 

 
 
 
 
 

Members of the Working Group 
  
Mr M.A. Kiddle-Morris 
Mrs L.S. Turner 
 

Mr M. A. Wassell (Chairman) 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE 

REQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE TREQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE TREQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE TREQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE TELEPHONESELEPHONESELEPHONESELEPHONES    

Member Services  
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE 
 

 

Date: 28 July 2014  
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



Local Plan Working Group 
01 August 2014 

 

 

 

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC 

 

 Page(s) 
herewith 

 

1. MINUTES  1 - 3 

 To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 11 February 2014.  
 

 

2. APOLOGIES   

 To receive any apologies for absence.  
 

 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 Members are reminded that under the Code of Conduct they are not to 
participate and must leave the room, for the whole of an agenda item to 
which they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest.  
 
In the interests of transparency, Members may also wish to declare any 
other interests they have in relation to an agenda item, that support the 
Nolan principles detailed within the Code of Conduct.  
 

 

4. URGENT BUSINESS   

 To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972.  
 

 

5. NON MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING   

 To note the names of any non-members who wish to address the 
meeting.  

 

6. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY)   

7. ATTLEBOROUGH NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN (ANP) (STANDING 
ITEM)  

 

8. BRECKLAND LOCAL PLAN ISSUES AND OPTIONS DOCUMENT  4 - 61 

 Report of Iain Withington, Planning Policy Team Leader.  
 

 

9. NEXT MEETING   

 The next Local Plan Working Group will be held on Tuesday, 9 
September 2014, following the Cabinet meeting.  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Local Plan Working Group 
01 August 2014 

 
 
 Page(s) 

herewith 

 

 



 
 
 

 

1 

BRECKLAND COUNCIL 
 

At a Meeting of the 
 

LOCAL PLAN WORKING GROUP 
 

Held on Tuesday, 11 February 2014 at 11.00 am in 
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Dereham 

 
PRESENT  
Mr M.A. Kiddle-Morris 
Mrs L.S. Turner 
 

Mr M. A. Wassell (Chairman) 
 

 
Also Present  
Mr S.G. Bambridge 
Mr T R Carter 
Mr J.P. Cowen 
Mrs D.K.R. Irving 
Mr A.P. Joel 
 

Mrs E. M. Jolly 
Mr K. Martin 
Mr M J Nairn 
Mrs J A North 
 

 
In Attendance  
Helen McAleer - Senior Committee Officer 
Phil Mileham - Deputy Planning Manager 
Sarah Robertson - Planning Policy Officer (Capita for 

Breckland Council) 
 
 
 Action By 

 
1/14 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1)   
  
 The Minutes of the meeting held on 3 December 2013 were agreed as a 

correct record.  
 

 

2/14 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 4)   
  
 The Deputy Planning Manager gave Members a brief update on the state of 

Neighbourhood Plans. 
 
The Attleborough Neighbourhood Plan application had not made much 
progress since its launch in the Autumn of 2013.  The Chairman of the 
Community Steering Group had been in contact to say that they were 
holding a meeting the following week, which the Deputy Planning Manager 
would attend, in the hope of moving things forward. 
 
For information, Members were advised that an application for a 
Designated Neighbourhood Area had been received from Croxton Parish 
Council.  That application had been publicised and was out for consultation 
until 19 February 2014.  After that date the responses would be collated 
and recommendations would be presented to the Cabinet meeting on 1 
April 2014. 
 
There had been no other formal expressions of interest.   
 

 

Agenda Item 1

1



Local Plan Working Group 
11 February 2014 

 
 

2 

 Action By 

 
 

3/14 NON MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING (AGENDA 
ITEM 5)  

 

  
 Councillors G Bambridge, T Carter, P Cowen, D Irving, A Joel, E Jolly, K 

Martin, M Nairn and J North were in attendance.  
 

 

4/14 NORFOLK AND SUFFOLK BRECKS LANDSCAPE CHARACTER 
ASSESSMENT (AGENDA ITEM 7)  

 

  
 Councillor Kiddle-Morris presented the report which he said would build 

onto the existing landscape study which had been carried out in 2007.  The 
new report concentrated mainly on the Brecks and extended beyond the 
District.  It provided a more detailed and in-depth look at the different 
landscape areas. 
 
The Planning Policy Officer then gave a brief summary of the Assessment 
which had been carried out by Shiels Flynn and funded partly by Norfolk 
and Suffolk County Councils and partly by Heritage Lottery funding. 
 
The Assessment covered the whole of the Brecks area as it was important 
to consider the landscape of neighbouring authorities as well as that within 
Breckland.  The information was provided at a much lower scale than the 
previous study giving finer detail. 
 
The two main aims were to provide a technical assessment which would 
provide guidelines for future planning and also to provide a narrative for the 
public explaining how the landscapes had developed. 
 
The key part of the assessment was to determine what made the Brecks 
special and distinctive.  Eight distinct character areas had been identified 
and these had been aligned so that the terminology was consistent 
throughout the district and neighbouring authorities. 
 
The Deputy Planning Manager summed up by saying that the piece of work 
had only recently been published.  It was a really useful study which could 
be built on and which would supplement Breckland’s own Landscape 
Character Assessment (LCA) study, providing a solid foundation for future 
Policies. 
 
Councillor Bambridge noted that Norfolk held 10% of the world’s chalk 
streams, many of which were in Breckland.  He hoped that they would form 
part of the landscape survey. 
 
The Deputy Planning Manager advised that they had already been 
identified in the previous study as high value landscape areas. 
 
Councillor Cowen thought it was very good that the study stretched outside 
the Council’s boundaries.  He was particularly concerned about the 
degradation of the Peddars Way landscape due to inappropriate use of the 
land in its vicinity.  Those inappropriate uses had been refused planning 
permission and the refusals had been upheld on appeal, yet it seemed 
likely that the applicants had found a way to circumvent the refusals by 
using Prior Notification applications for agriculture uses.  He said that the 
Council had no power to stop that and he thought that there should be a 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2



Local Plan Working Group 
11 February 2014 

 
 

3 

 Action By 

 
 

Policy to prevent the destruction of landscapes. 
 
Councillor North agreed and at the Planning Committee meeting she had 
said that the Council was a guardian of the Peddars Way which was known 
nationally, not just locally. 
 
The Chairman wondered how the document would be used to inform future 
planning applications.  He asked if there would be a mechanism to make it 
easy to access the relevant information for a specific area.  He also asked if 
it would be available electronically. 
 
The Deputy Planning Manager advised that there were ways to use a 
Geographical Information System to understand which landscape character 
type schemes fell within and also to assist in the understanding of 
landscape types.  He hoped it would be available in electronic format in 
future. 
 
Councillor Kiddle-Morris quoted an example of a planning application in his 
own Ward which had intended to put a large building on a prominent 
landscape feature identified as a domed plateau in the LCA.  Due to that 
classification the Planning Committee had been able to refuse that 
application on landscape grounds. 
 
Councillor Carter thought it would be useful for a copy of the report to be 
given to each member of the Planning Committee. 
 
Councillor Kiddle-Morris advised that they would need a copy of the 2007 
LCA as well. 
 
Councillor Cowen did not think that was sufficient.  There was a lot of 
information and Members needed to understand what the results 
demonstrated and how they could use the information to determine 
planning applications.  Training was essential for Members to help them 
understand the background and enable them to use the information to 
inform their decisions. 
 
After some discussion it was agreed that the report should be presented to 
the Planning Committee for information and discussion in the first instance.  
It was further recognised that a series of training sessions should be 
arranged for Planning Committee members, which could be open to all 
Members to attend. 
 

RESOLVED to accept the Norfolk and Suffolk Landscape Character 
Assessment as evidence base to inform the preparation of the Local 
Plan.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PM  
 
PM  

 
 
 
 
The meeting closed at 10.25 am 
 
 
 

CHAIRMAN 

3



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of: Mark Kiddle-Morris, Executive Member for Assets and Strategic Development 
 
To:    Local Plan Working Group 4th August 2014 
 
Author:  Iain Withington, Planning Policy Team Leader, (Capita) 
 
Subject: Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Document 
 
Purpose: The purpose of this report is to inform Members of the progress to date on the 

issues and options document of the Local Plan.  
 

 
Recommendation(s): It is recommended that Members note the content of this report and 
that it forms the basis of the discussion at the working group. 
 

 
1.0 BACKGROUND   
 
1.1 Council Members will recall the Local Plan visioning session on 27th January 2014, where 

evidence base surrounding Housing, Employment and Environment within the district was 
discussed. Since this visioning session in January, significant progress has been made on 
the issues and options document for the Local Plan and Its evidence base. Prior to the full 
Local Plan being reviewed at Cabinet in October for approval to go out to consultation, it is 
intended to review sections of the document through Local Plan Working Group. 

 
1.2 The Local Plan issues and options consultation has been formatted around strategic 

themes. The strategic themes have been identified having regard to the requirements of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). In addition to this it is also proposed to 
include a detailed section on the approach towards the five market towns. The first sections 
of the Local Plan issues and options document are attached at Appendix A - C of this 
report. These sections include the vision and objectives, the approach to housing, including 
Gypsies & Travellers, affordable housing and the economy.  It is the intention that this 
session will seek Members’ opinions on the key options presented within this section. A 
summary of the issues is included below. These are intended to form the key discussion 
points at the working group. 

 
 Vision and Objectives 
 
1.3 National guidance promotes a Local Plan which reflects a collective vision incorporating 

priorities from neighbourhoods, businesses and local organisations which should reflect the 
strategic priorities for the area. The existing vision was included within the Core Strategy 
and covered the plan period from 2001 to 2026. The existing vision envisages Breckland at 
the end of that plan period and articulates the overarching development strategy, principles 
and priorities that will deliver sustainable development within the District. The key themes 
within the last vision were: 

 

Housing , Employment 
and regeneration  

To deliver significant housing and employment growth at 
Key settlements providing services and facilities to their 
Hinterlands  

Environment  To comprehensively protect and enhance as appropriate, 
the natural, built and historic environment of the District 

Natural Resources To respect the environmental limits of the district, in 
particular water resources 

Agenda Item 8

4



Accessibility To enhance accessibility to services to reduce need to 
travel and inequalities in access 

 
1.4 The existing vision from the Core Strategy has served the district well and significant 

progress has been made to deliver the aims of the document. However, the new Local Plan 
offers the opportunity for this vision to either be replaced or brought up to date. It is 
proposed through the Local Plan Consultation to seek views on what sustainable 
development means in Breckland, and what should be included in the Strategic Objectives 
and the time span of the Local Plan. 

 
 Housing 
 
1.5 Members will be aware that the new Local Plan offers the Authority the opportunity to set its 

own housing target. Previously the housing target was set though the Regional Spatial 
Strategy – The East of England Plan. Importantly the NPPF, at paragraph 47, states that 
Local Plans should meet the full objectively assessed needs for market and affordable 
housing. Significant work has been undertaken on the preparation of a housing target within 
Breckland, and this was initially reported to Local Plan Working Group in December 2013.  

 
1.6 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) states that the starting point for determining housing 

targets is the latest population and household projections. The work so far has considered 
housing growth based on a number of scenarios, including a demographic led scenario, a 
economic led scenario and a supply led scenario. These scenarios have produced a range 
of housing targets from 634-699 dwellings being required per annum. A further policy led 
scenario was tested which suggested the need for 770 new dwellings per annum. These 
figures were considered at the visioning session where concern regarding the past delivery 
rates was raised. The Local Plan issues and options paper includes a range of scenarios, 
which are presented as options. 

 
1.7 Further housing evidence is also being prepared, in the form of a joint 2014 Strategic 

Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) and a Strategic Housing Land Availability 
Assessment (SHLAA). A further option around this emerging 2014 joint SHMA scenario is 
also presented. These studies will provide information on the housing need for the district 
and also how much deliverable land there is. It is currently anticipated that the findings of 
the SHLAA will be reported at a latter working group. 

 
1.8 In relation to affordable housing and other forms of housing the issues and options explores 

a number of approaches around the setting of an affordable housing target and the 
Council’s approach to specialist housing. 

 
 Gypsies and Travellers 
 
1.9 Local Authorities have a legal duty to consider the needs of Gypsies and Travellers and 

Travelling Showpeople in the same way as all other sectors of the community. Members 
will be aware that the Council commissioned a Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation 
Assessment (GTAA) 2013. This study showed that the Gypsy and Traveller population 
within the district has remained relatively stable. Importantly the GTAA noted that the need 
for further pitches in Breckland comes from those already residing within the district. 
Ultimately the GTAA concludes that an additional 33 permanent pitches will be needed in 
the next 15 years.  

 
1.10 The issues and options consultation proposes to include options around the type of site(s) 

which should be provided within Breckland. The options includes criteria on the size and 
tenure of sites. In addition to this, it is also proposed to include further options on site 

5



assessment criteria for Gypsy and Traveller sites and the strategic approach. It is not 
proposed to include potential sites within the issues and options document. 

  
 Economy 
 
1.11 An employment growth study was completed in last year and its findings form the basis of 

this chapter within the Local Plan. This study also formed the basis of the discussion at the 
Members visioning session. The study presented a range of potential employment growth 
scenarios, which could lead to a growth of between 3,952-4,059 new jobs up to 2031.  

 
1.12 Employment growth should be closely linked to housing growth within Breckland. The 

employment growth study looked at the existing quantum of employment land within each 
of the towns in Breckland. Overall the study considers that there is enough employment 
land located within the district to meet the requirements up to 2031. Furthermore, the 
survey suggests that there is an over-supply of employment land in Swaffham and the rural 
areas. It is the intention that the issues and options consultation will seek views around the 
level of employment growth required in the district. 

 
1.13 The Local Plan will also need to consider the role of the rural economy and how this can be 

promoted within Breckland. This issue was raised through the Members visioning session.  
Potential policy options to be consulted upon in this regard include: 

• Re-use of rural buildings 
• Supporting the diversification of businesses in rural areas 
• Promoting improvements to communications infrastructure 
• Promotion of key sectors such as tourism 
 

In addition the question of whether to develop polices towards protecting the rural economy 
and community facilities is raised, however it is stressed that it would be important to retain 
an element of flexibility to be in accord with the NPPF 

 
 Town Centre and Retail Strategy  
 
1.14 Supporting the vitality and viability of town centres remains a key objective of national retail 

policy and the Local Plan explores the setting of an Impact Threshold for retail leisure and 
or office provision. In line with the NPPF the definition to be used in the Local Plan 
regarding town centre boundaries is presented. Further issues around the setting of revised 
Use Class percentages to help support development management are also  explored. 

 
2.0 OPTIONS 
 
2.1 As the recommendation is to note the content of the report, no options are presented here. 

 
3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
3.1 The issues and options document is an ongoing piece of work, with the first full consultation 

expected to occur late October – November subject to agreement from Cabinet. It is the 
intention that the discussion at the Local Plan Working Group on this first section will feed 
into the document. 

 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
4.1 The NPPF requires Local Authorities to prepare Local Plans. The issues and options 

consultation will be the first stage in the preparation of the new Local Plan.  
 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 

6



 
5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues 
 
5.1.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.2 Constitution & Legal 
 
5.2.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.3 Contracts 
 
5.3.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.4 Corporate Priorities 
 
5.4.1 This Local Plan aligns with the following corporate priorities: 

• To have pride in Breckland 
• To develop stronger communities 
• To support our local economy 

 
5.5 Crime and Disorder  
 
5.5.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights 
 
5.6.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.7 Financial  
 
5.7.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.8 Risk Management  
 
5.8.1 There are a number of potential risks to the delivery of the issues and options document for 

the Local Plan. The key risks are delays in the delivery of the evidence base, particularly 
the joint Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) and the Retail and Town Centre 
Study. 

 
5.8.2 The SHMA is due to be completed in October, this creates a relatively tight timetable to 

include the findings in the Local Plan issues and options document. In particular, it might 
affect the approach of setting a housing target for the district, which many other key 
strategic choices rely upon.  

 
5.8.3 Furthermore, there are also potential risks to the housing target as a result of the newly 

released mid-2012 Sub-National Population Forecast. There is an indication that this latest 
evidence might be considered in the SHMA process, however there is a potential risk that 
the new figures might significantly deviate from the previous release. If this was to occur the 
existing evidence base would need to be revised.  

 
5.8.4 The retail and town centre study is due to report in early August; delays to this could also 

impact upon the Local Plan timetable. 
 
5.9 Staffing 
 

7



5.9.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
  
5.10 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales 
 
5.10.1 The first consultation on the issues and options Local Plan will occur in October and 

November 2014, subject to agreement from the Council’s Cabinet.  
  
6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 All wards in Breckland will be affected by the Local Plan 
 
7.0 ACRONYMS  
 
7.1 NPPF: National Planning Policy Framework 
7.2 PPG: Planning Practice Guidance 
7.3 SHMA: Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
7.4 SHLAA: Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment. 
7.5 GTAA: Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment 
 

Background papers:-  

 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post: Iain Withington, Planning Policy Team Leader  (Capita) 
Telephone Number: 01362 656 205 
Email: Iain.Withington@capita.co.uk 
 
Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting  
Name and Post: Iain Withington, Planning Policy Team Leader (Capita) 

Sarah Robertson, Planning Policy Officer (Capita) 
Feng Li, Senior Planning Policy Officer (Capita) 

 
Key Decision: Yes 
 
Exempt Decision: No  
 
Appendices attached to this report:  
Appendix A: Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Consultation Document – Sections 1-4 
Appendix B: Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Consultation Document – Section 5 
Appendix C: Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Consultation Document – Section 6 
 
 

8



1 Foreword

Welcome to this first Issues and Options consultation for the Local Plan. This document has been prepared on

behalf of Breckland Council, who form the Local Planning Authority for the area. The consultation on this document

represents a key opportunity for you to help shape the future planning strategy for Breckland.

All comments on this Issues and Options should be sent to the Planning Policy Team at Breckland. Where possible

we would appreciate the comments comments being submitted online using the Council's specially designed

webpage, but comments can also be emailed or posted to us.

Online: The document is available online at http://consult.breckland.gov.uk

By post: Planning Policy Team

Breckland Council

Elizabeth House

Walpole Loke

Dereham

Norfolk

NR19 1EE

By email: planningpolicyteam@breckland.gov.uk

Responses must be received no later than 4pm on XX

Please note that all comments will be placed on the Council's webpage and as such will be publicly viewable.

If you have any questions regarding any of the issues raised in this document, please contact the Planning Policy

Team on 01362 656 873

1Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 2014 9



Introduction

4Introduction2.

10Spatial Portrait3.

13Vision and Objectives4.

Strategic Themes and Issues

17Housing5.

175.1 Housing Strategy

225.2 Affordable Housing

275.3 Gypsies and Travellers

37Economy6.

376.1 Breckland's Economy

386.2 General Economic Strategies

446.3 Rural Economy

476.4 Town Centre and Retail Strategy

536.5 Transport Strategies

54Natural and Historic Environment7.

58Spatial Strategy8.

588.1 Spatial Strategy

648.2 Market Towns

648.2.1 Attleborough

868.2.2 Dereham

938.2.3 Swaffham

998.2.4 Thetford

1078.2.5 Watton

1138.3 Service Centres

1258.4 Rural Settlements and Countryside

128Implementation and Viability9.

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 201410



132Call For Sites10.

Appendices

133Glossary11.

140Evidence Base List12.

146Local Service Centre Analysis13.

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 2014 11



2 Introduction

Context

2.1 Local Authorities are required by Government to produce an up to date Local Plan for their area, to guide

the future spatial development.

2.2 On 8 January 2013, the Council resolved to prepare a new Local Plan for Breckland. The new Breckland

Local Plan will be a key document for the district to guide future development and help preserve the natural and

historical environment, whilst promoting quality of life. Once adopted, it will replace the existing suite of Development

Plan Documents developed under the previous Local Development Framework (LDF), including the Core Strategy

and Development Control Policies, Site Specific Policies and Proposals and Thetford Area Action Plan. The Local

Plan preparation must have regard to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), which was published by

the Government in March 2012 . The Local Plan sets out the issues that the district is facing over the next 15 -

20 years and sets out the potential options for dealing with these issues. We are seeking your views on these in

order to shape the new Local Plan and plan positively for the future of the district. Planning is important as it affects

everyone from all walks of life, it not only directs and shapes development, but seeks to protect and enhance our

natural and built environment. As we develop the Local Plan it is therefore important that it is prepared with

extensive consultations with the general public, statutory and non-statutory bodies and other interested groups.

2.3 The Council's resolution to prepare a new Local Plan for the district follows the revocation of Regional Spatial

Strategies (RSS's) within England. The RSS previously addressed a number of key issues, such as the designation

of housing targets for individual local authorities. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the Localism

Act now require these planning issues to be addressed at local level.

2.4 The Local Plan will set out the development strategy, strategic policies and site allocations for the district

within a single document. There is the potential for some of the policies and allocations to be supported by

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) to provide further guidance and details. In addition to the planning

documents prepared by the Council, communities also have opportunities to prepare plans for their local area,

which are called Neighbourhood Plans. A diagram showing relationships between the Local Plan and other planning

policy documents is set out below in Figure 2.1 'Relationship between the Local Plan and other planning policy

documents'.

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 20144

2

12



Figure 2.1 Relationship between the Local Plan and other planning policy

documents

2.5 A Local Plan must achieve sustainable development for the area it covers. As set out in the National Planning

Policy Framework (NPPF), pursuing sustainable development involves seeking positive improvements in the quality

of the built, natural and historic environment, as well as in people’s quality of life. The Local Plan aims to:

set a spatial vision for the Breckland area with clear economic, social and environmental objectives;

consider the needs and aspirations of Breckland residents; and

achieve an integrated approach to regeneration and delivery of needed development.

2.6 The Local Plan is at an early stage of development. This Issues and Options paper aims to provide initial

discussions on the spatial issues and sets out the challenges Breckland faces. Once fully developed, the Local

Plan will contain the following elements:

A Spatial Portrait setting out the conditions that exist in Breckland and highlighting the issues to be addressed

within the document;

A set of Issues and Challenges, derived from the evidence base, that will need to be addressed by the Spatial

Vision and Strategy. These issues will provide a brief snapshot of the issues and challenges that are driving

change in Breckland;

5Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 2014 13



An overall Spatial Vision setting out what the area will be like in the future and a broad overview of how this

will be achieved;

A set of Spatial Objectives outlining the main policy topics that will be pursued in order to achieve the vision;

A Spatial Strategy that will set out how the Council plans to deal with the key issues and Spatial Objectives

that have been identified, and how the Council envisages the different parts of the district developing in

relation to these issues in order to realise the Spatial Vision;

A key diagram illustrating the Spatial Strategy;

A series of core policies for delivering the vision and objectives (these will provide a strategic framework for

informing and coordinating investment and making decisions about specific development proposals);

A set of development management policies that will be used to guide development in a sustainable way;

Sites that are allocated for development and the specific policies related to them;

A set of indicators and targets to provide a framework for monitoring the plan’s implementation.

Duty to Co-operate

2.7 The Localism Act (2011) sets out a new 'Duty to Co-operate' which applies to all Local Planning Authorities,

County Councils, National Park Authorities and a number of public bodies including the Environment Agency,

Highways Agency, and the Equality and Human Rights Commission.

2.8 The Act states that Local Planning Authorities and other public bodies are required to:

'engage constructively, actively and on an on-going basis to develop strategic policies to make plans for their areas

to meet the current and future needs of its community'.

2.9 Plans should be positively prepared based on a strategy which seeks to meet objectively assessed

development and infrastructure requirements. Local Planning Authorities will be expected to demonstrate evidence

of having effectively cooperated to plan for issues with cross boundary-impacts when their Local Plans are submitted

for examination. It is important that cooperation is a continuous process of engagement. This is all the more

important as, in the past, strategic cross boundary issues were considered through the now revoked Regional

Plan process but this responsibility now rests at the local level.

2.10 In response to the challenge of fulfilling the Duty to Co-operate, Local Planning Authorities in Norfolk are

seeking to establish a formal Duty to Cooperate structure which seeks to engage at both Political and Officer level.

This structure will also draw in representatives from Local planning Authorities (LPAs), outside the County and

other designated Duty to Co-operate bodies.

Relationship to National Planning Policy

2.11 The Local Plan must be consistent with the policies contained in the National Planning Policy Framework

(NPPF), which was published by the Government in March 2012 and the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG),

published in June 2014. The NPPF requires Local Planning Authorities to positively seek opportunities to meet

the development needs of their area and that Local Plans should meet objectively assessed needs, with sufficient

flexibility to adapt to rapid change. It also sets out the requirement of a "sound" Local Plan, which should be

positively prepared, justified, effective and consistent with national policy. At the heart of the NPPF is

the presumption in favour of sustainable development and Local Plans must be prepared with the objective of

contributing to the achievement of sustainable development. When adopted Breckland's Local Plan will guide how

the presumption in favour of sustainable development is applied with the district. Importantly the Local Plan will

set out the strategic development needs of the district, including policies for housing and economic development.

It will also plan positively to support local development, shaping and directing development in the district outside

of the strategic elements.

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 20146

2

14



2.12 The Local Plan will only elaborate on national planning policy where this is considered necessary to meet

local objectives and achieve local distinctiveness. Otherwise, cross-references are made to national policy and

this will be applied in addition to the policies in the Local Plan.

What is Sustainable Development?

2.13 There are three dimensions to sustainable development: economic, social and environmental, each are

mutually dependent on each other. The NPPF states that in order to achieve sustainable development, gains

should be sought jointly and simultaneously through the planning system. At the heart of the NPPF for both plan

making and decision taking there is a "presumption in favour of sustainable development". This means that the

local authorities should positively seek opportunities to meet the development needs of the district. Local Plans

should meet objective needs, based on robust evidence and that they should be able to be applied in a flexible

manor to adapt to rapid change, unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly outweigh the benefits,

or specific polices indicate development should be restricted.

2.14 For decision making, it is important to have an up-to-date Local Plan as the presumption in favour of

sustainable development means approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without

delay. Where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant polices are out of date, permission should be

granted unless any adverse impacts would significantly outweigh the benefits.

2.15 The definition is based upon the broad principle set out in the United Nations General Assembly in resolution

24/187: meeting the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own

needs.

2.16 Following on from the United Nations General Assembly defining sustainable development and applying

it within the local context of Breckland. Breckland district contains a predominately rural character with areas that

contain Sites of Special Scientific Interest, Special Areas of Conservation, Special Protection Area and National

Nature reserve designated land. The main towns for social and economic activity are dispersed to the north east

(Dereham), north west (Swaffham), south east (Attleborough) and south west (Thetford) with Watton in the centre.

The 14 service centre villages throughout the district some of which are close to main towns and some are not.

2.17 The existing hierarchy directs growth to Market Towns, and Local Service Centres because this is where

the main and majority of services, facilities and job opportunities exist, it is also recognised because the majority

of Breckland is predominately rural (e.g. the remaining villages and hinterlands) often public transport is limited,

subsequently in more rural areas this allows the private vehicle to dominate movement patterns. Therefore, where

rural settlements and countryside settlements are further away from main settlements with limited services and

facilities to support their habitation it could be expected environmental policies to prevail development policies in

line with the expectation of the NPPF. However, in achieving a balance between the three aspects in achieving a

sustainable balance consideration should be given to the importance of social and economic benefits in rural

society.

2.18 Plans and decisions need to reflect local circumstances, so that they can respond to the different opportunities

for achieving sustainable development in different areas of the district.

Relationship to Sustainability Appraisal

2.19 The Local Plan will seek to achieve each of the economic, social and environmental dimensions of sustainable

development and net gains across all three. The NPPF states in paragraph 152 that "significant adverse impacts

should be avoided and wherever possible, alternative options which reduce or eliminate such impacts should be

pursued. Where adverse impacts are unavoidable, measures to mitigate the impact should be considered". The

sustainability appraisal (SA) (incorporating a Strategic Environmental Assessment) is therefore a key component

of the development of a Local Plan and the Local Plan will be the subject of ongoing sustainability appraisal during

this process. The sustainability appraisal includes assessment of social, economic and environmental impacts.

7Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 2014 15



The scoping report, which sets out the framework and approach to be adopted was consulted on last year and an

interim SA report will accompany this Issues and Options report, setting out the findings to date. An initial

sustainability assessment has also been undertaken against the emerging options and reported in the appropriate

sections of this Issues and Options report. Comments received at consultation stage will help to inform a detailed

sustainability appraisal to accompany the preferred options. The purpose of this is to ensure that as the policies

are developed in the Local Plan, they are in keeping with the principles and aims of sustainable development. We

would encourage you to comment on this document.

Relationship to Habitats Regulations

2.20 Regulation 85B of the Habitats Regulations requires plan making authorities to determine whether a plan

is likely to have a significant effect upon any European site. In considering the implications of the Breckland Local

Plan for European sites, an Appropriate Assessment will be undertaken in order to comply with the Habitats

Regulations.

2.21 The findings of the Habitats Regulations Assessment might mean it is necessary to include mitigation

measures to remove any significant effects or likely significant effects that the plan may have on European sites.

Mitigation measures can include amendments made to policies to remove elements that could have an effect, or

to require other actions that can eliminate any effects. Any policies developed in the Local Plan that have an effect

on European sites will have to be amended to ensure that the qualifying features are not harmed, as well as

considering other measures that will be necessary. These mitigation measures will be incorporated into the

document where necessary. In some cases, the mitigation measures may have a significant role in shaping the

final direction of the strategy.

Where we are now and what happens next

2.22 The Local Plan will be prepared in accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning)

(England) Regulations 2012. The Council is at early stages of the plan-making process, whilst there are extensive

evidence needs to be gathered and background studies being commissioned.

2.23 The plan will undergo two stages of public consultations when the views from the specific and general

consultation bodies, the public and other interest groups, along with statutory Duty to Cooperate consultees, will

have opportunities to express their views and contribute to the plan. The plan will then be published and

representations on the soundness of the proposed submission plan will be invited. The tests of soundness include:

Is the plan positively prepared

Is the plan justified

Is the plan effective

Is the plan consistent with national policy

2.24 Comments received through the pre-submission publication will be considered at the subsequent public

examination against a number of soundness tests. The Inspector will take representations received from the

soundness consultation into consideration and to decide whether the plan is sound or should be amended to make

it meet the soundness criteria.

2.25 Once found sound by the inspector, the Local Plan will be adopted by the Council and will form a key part

of the development strategy for the Council.

TimescaleStages

January 2013 - March 2014Evidence gathering & prepare Issues and

options document

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 20148

2

16



TimescaleStages

November 2014Public consultation on Issues and OptionsWe are here

Summer 2015Public consultation on Preferred Options

document

Winter 2015/16Pre-submission consultation (soundness

consultation)

Spring 2016Submission

Summer 2016Independent Public Examination

Winter 2016Adoption

Table 2.1 Local Plan Key Stages

9Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 2014 17



3 Spatial Portrait

3.1 In developing a strategy for future development in Breckland, it is important to understand the context and

the main attributes of the district in terms of its geography, economy, environment and social characteristics. The

Spatial Portrait below is expanded in more detail in the baseline assessment of the scoping report for the

sustainability appraisal that accompanies this document.

Geography

3.2 Breckland is a geographically large rural district in central Norfolk covering an area of over 500 square miles.

Just over half of the population live in the many dispersed villages and hamlets found in the 108 rural parishes,

with the remaining 49% of the population living in the District’s five towns of Thetford, Dereham, Attleborough,

Swaffham and Watton. Thetford, which is Norfolk’s fourth largest settlement, is the principal retail, service and

employment centre in the south of the district. Dereham and Attleborough are the second and third largest towns

in the district, which serve as administration and service centres, but are also a focus for retail and employment.

Elsewhere, Swaffham and Watton are similarly sized market towns and provide a good range of services for

day-to-day needs. There are a number of larger villages in the district which have a range of services however

there are a number of a rural Parishes with very few or no services, including some Wards which are amongst the

most deprived in Norfolk in terms of access to services.

3.3 The regional centre of Norwich exerts a sphere of influence over the east of the district. To a lesser extent

the sub-regional centres of King’s Lynn and Bury St. Edmunds have a relationship with parts of the west and south

of the district respectively. Communities in Breckland look to these 3 centres for higher order retail, transport and

service provision, such as hospitals. Increasingly, the south of the district looks to growth and investment emanating

from other regional centres, such as Cambridge, Stansted and the M11 Corridor. Thetford in particular displays a

good balance of homes and jobs and as such was identified in the previous Local Development Framework for

significant growth.

Transport Links

3.4 Given the rural nature and dispersed pattern of settlement, movement in the district is primarily by private

car. Two trunk road routes run across the district. The A47 links Dereham and Swaffham with Norwich in the east

and King’s Lynn in the west, while the A11 links Attleborough and Thetford with Norwich to the north and Newmarket

and Cambridge in the south-west. The A11 is programmed to be completely dualled during the period of this Plan

and on this basis will sustain further economic growth. Despite congestion, the A47 is not programmed for

improvements to its capacity during the period of this Plan. The remaining parts of Breckland are served by a

network of non-trunk ”A” category roads and secondary and minor roads, which are unlikely to be improved

significantly during the period of this Plan. Thetford and Attleborough are connected to the national rail network

with regular services to Norwich and Cambridge and beyond to the Midlands and north of England. Public transport

services in the district are principally provided by bus and focus on linking the District’s market towns with shopping

and employment destinations at Norwich, King’s Lynn and Bury St. Edmunds. There are more infrequent services

in the rural areas linking villages with their local town, principally on market days.

Population

3.5 Breckland has a diverse community of over 131,009 people (Census, 2011) which is forecast to increase to

160,676 by 2031 (CLG 2008 based projection). Generally, quality of life is good with official crime rates being low

and generally decreasing. However there are pockets of health and disability related deprivation, notably in some

of the Thetford wards. Additionally, the average age of Breckland residents’ is increasing and this raises issues

for health and service provision, as well as the economy and housing market. Traditionally, Gypsy and Travelling

Communities have been a significant ethnic group in Breckland. More recently, migrant workers from the European

Union have become established as a significant new community with numbers estimated between 6,000 and

15,000.

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 201410

3

18



The Economy

3.6 The growth of the Breckland population has lead to growth in the working age population. This has been

driven to a significant extent by high levels of in-migration from overseas. The number of people with higher level

qualifications is low, however the number of people with other qualifications is comparable with other areas of the

region and the country.

3.7 Wages are also relatively low in comparison with the national and regional averages. This reflects the lower

level of qualifications of people in the district and the low level of skills required by many of the available jobs.

Although there is a high number of people who live and work in the district, many higher qualified workers are

travelling out of the district to access higher paid and higher skilled work. Unemployment in the district is very low

and has been consistently below both the national and county figures, however there is no complacency and the

Council recognises the need to improve the efficiency, competitiveness and adaptability of the local economy.

Jobs growth has been very high at 21.8% for the period from 1991 to 2011 compared with Norfolk at 8.7%. Although

the employment level has decreased since 2006, it is projected to continue to recover and grow during the plan

period , with at least 4,500 net new jobs forecast for the district up to 2031.
(1)

3.8 The local economy has undergone significant change in recent years with the general manufacturing sector

continuing to decline as it is generally unable to compete with lower cost imports. However, there remains strength

in the sector with a concentration of small and medium sized companies in specialist manufacturing predominantly

in Thetford and Attleborough. There is a strong distribution sector in the district mostly based on regional and local

distribution rather than a strategic market and is based mainly in Thetford and Snetterton, capitalising on the

connectivity of the A11 corridor. This sector is likely to grow significantly over the plan period. The banking, finance

and insurance sector is currently under represented in the district, although there is a significant local presence in

Dereham and Swaffham. This sector is one of the strongest growing in the district and will represent a significant

increase in town centre based employment over the plan period. The farming and related food preparation sectors

have and continue to undergo restructuring but remain strong, particularly in the rural parts of the district for the

production of meat products including poultry. These sectors are however unlikely to grow over the plan period,

the consequences of which the Local Plan will need to be sufficiently flexible to respond to. The jobs growth in the

district is therefore likely to be made up of some decline in traditional industrial and manufacturing jobs that is more

than made up for by growth in service and office based work and growth in sectors that do not occupy traditional

B Class employment space such as the retail, health, leisure and tourism sectors.

3.9 The commercial property market in Breckland is concentrated around Thetford which benefits from good

accessibility from its position on the A11 and its rail links to Norwich and Cambridge but with lower land values

than these two regional centres. Attleborough and Snetterton also benefit from good accessibility from the A11

and have active commercial property markets. Strategic improvements to the A11 will enhance accessibility from

Thetford, Attleborough and Snetterton, with full dualing of the road within the plan period. Dereham benefits from

its proximity to Norwich, its central location in Norfolk and good east/west accessibility from the A47. It is

consequently an attractive location for local and regional firms serving the Norwich and Norfolk markets. Swaffham

andWatton do not enjoy the same levels of accessibility or proximity to Norwich and therefore there is less demand

for commercial space in these two towns, however there is demand mainly from small local firms wishing to expand.

Housing

3.10 Closely linked to the economy, Breckland’s housing market has seen house prices rise much faster than

incomes. A Strategic Housing Market Assessment was undertaken in 2013 and set out a number of mechanisms

for achieving a balanced housing market in Breckland. Since the abolishment of the East of England Plan, Local

Authorities are required to develop their own housing target, reflecting the objectively assessed local housing

needs. The housing target for the district is currently being developed and further information is available within

the 5 'Housing' section.

1 East of England Forecasting Model (EEFM) 2013 baseline forecast

11Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 2014 19



3.11 It should be acknowledged that in determining objectively assessed housing needs for each district, it is

likely that Housing Market Areas may extend beyond a districts boundary. As a result, a wider Strategic Housing

Market Assessment is currently being prepared in co-operation with other Norfolk authorities in order to understand

the impact of any significant inter-dependencies within adjacent market areas and how Breckland could respond

to this.

Environment

3.12 Breckland is a diverse district for biodiversity, landscape and heritage. It takes its name from The Brecks,

which is a nationally unique landscape and habitat of sandy heath, forest and arable farmland found in the west

and south of the district. This habitat contains a number of nationally important bird species such as Stone Curlew,

Woodlark and Nightjar and large swathes of the Brecks are protected by National, and European designations.

Breckland contains 13% of all SSSIs found in the East of England. Elsewhere the character of Breckland is clay

farmland, punctuated with woodland, occasional river valleys and dispersed settlement. The historic character of

Breckland's settlements is recognised by 50 separate Conservation Areas and over 1,500 Listed Buildings.

3.13 Breckland also has an interesting geodiversity. Breckland is an area of lowland glacial landscape overlying

chalk bedrock. Its special landforms include pingos, patterned ground and fluctuating meres. Many of these features

are recognised as being of regional and national importance.

3.14 Breckland is one of the driest areas of the country and availability of water resources is an issue with the

increasing pressure for development. Climate change has been identified as the most significant challenge that

we currently face. The release of greenhouse gases, particularly carbon dioxide, is the main contributing factor

and human activity is a direct cause. We can expect warmer wetter winters and drier hotter summers; reduced

water resources and more extreme weather events.

3.15 Breckland’s location means that it is not vulnerable to sea level changes. However, many parts of Breckland

have a high clay content and consequently inadequate drainage, which can lead to problems of flash flooding.

3.16 Road traffic is a significant source of carbon dioxide. There is a high level of commuting by car, and

congestion at peak times in the market towns. Breckland has one of the highest rates of commuting to work by

car in Norfolk.

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 201412

3

20



4 Vision and Objectives

4.1 National guidance promotes a Local Plan which reflects a collective vision incorporating priorities from

neighbourhoods, business and local organisation which should reflect the strategic priorities for the area. It is

important to develop a vision that sets out our aspirations for the future of Breckland. This will guide how the

district will look in the future.

4.2 It is our aim that a vision should:

Be grounded in the issues and challenges that emerge as we progress towards a new Local Plan, and

Align with other key strategies and plans, produced by the Council, key partners and the wider community.

4.3 Whilst the vision within the adopted Core Strategy has served us well and much progress has been made

in delivering those aspirations, the Local Plan presents the opportunity to develop a new vision that encompasses

all the elements that should now act as key drivers for the growth and continued success of the district. Growth

not only presents challenges, it also presents opportunities to support and enhance the wider development of

Breckland and sustainable development priorities.

4.4 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires that local planning authorities should set out the

strategic priorities for the area covered by the Local Plan. It explains that these are strategic polices to deliver

homes, jobs, retail, leisure, infrastructure, community and cultural infrastructure, and environmental conservation

and enhancement. These main priority areas are set out throughout this Issues and Options as Strategic Themes

and Issues. In exercising the plan making function this must do so with the objective of contributing to the

achievement of Sustainable Development.

4.5 To support a vision, it is also important that the Local Plan sets out strategic objectives for the district. The

strategic objectives facilitate delivery of the districts strategic priorities which reflect the requirements of the NPPF

and local aspirations.

4.6 Once we have considered these along with the findings of our evidence studies and the feedback from this

consultation we can start on making choices around the vision and the strategic objectives which will help shape

Breckland in the years to come.

4.7 We will develop a detailed draft vision and set of objectives which will be included in the next consultation

on the plan. This will provide you with the opportunity to have your say.

4.8 As referenced in the introduction Local Plans must be prepared with the objective of contributing to the

achievement of sustainable development, and are the key to delivering sustainable development that reflects the

vision and aspirations of local communities.

Question 1

What do you think Sustainable Development means for Breckland?

Spatial Vision Context

4.9 Breckland’s settlements and its wider rural area will continue to develop as a dynamic, prosperous and

self-sustaining community through the delivery of housing and significant employment growth, supported by

necessary facilities, services and infrastructure. Options 3 – 6 within this document seek to establish and determine

an exact overall housing provision figure. New housing will have been integrated with new and existing facilities

and will comprise of an appropriate tenure, type and mix to address issues of affordability and social inclusion. In

13Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 2014 21



response to the challenges of delivering sustainable development in a predominantly rural area, the majority of

development will have been directed to key settlements, providing services and facilities to their hinterlands.

This development in the key settlements will be supported by appropriate development in villages and in rural

areas where it addresses local need or is a sustainable response to an advantage offered by a location. The jobs,

housing and other services and facilities will be located and of a scale and balance to deliver self-contained

settlements reducing the need to travel and maximise opportunities for delivery of sustainable transport provision.

4.10 Along the A11 corridor significant employment growthwill be achieved in advanced engineering, motor

sport, research and development and logistics, building on the emerging employment base and taking advantage

of the excellent highway network and linkages to other centres of business. In the rest of Breckland, employment

will meet local needs with the important cultural, heritage, landscape and natural assets forming the basis for

tourism, leisure and recreation.

4.11 Continuing to move Thetford forward will be the main focus for development in Breckland. Thetford is

the principal retail, service and employment centre in the south of the district. It contains a good balance of homes

and jobs with a well-developed market for industrial and distribution properties; and because of the well-connected

infrastructure networks including rail and road it offers opportunities to develop existing and new industry focus.

Subsequently making Thetford the most sustainable town in the district.

4.12 Elsewhere on the A11 corridor and railway, Attleborough will develop as a location for substantial

housing and employment growth. There will be sustainable connections to employment locations at Snetterton

and the greater Norwich area. The environment and function of the town will have been enhanced by further retail

provision and a new link road from the London Road to the B1077.

4.13 The distribution of growth including housing, employment, services and facilities will have been

delivered in the market towns of Dereham, Swaffham and Watton. The particular attributes of the market towns

will define the scale and direction of growth, but the aim for all will be, as a minimum, to reinforce their position

within the settlement hierarchy. Where opportunities are identified in the Towns, growth plans will be put in place

to ensure their development and enhancement as centres for living and working and to improve the services and

facilities they offer. This enhancement will improve their sustainability as self-contained settlements and provide

wider benefits to their hinterland.

4.14 The natural, built and historic environment of the district will be comprehensively protected and

enhanced, as appropriate, to ensure that the inherent environmental and visual qualities are retained. In particular

the special landscape quality of the Brecks, internationally important habitats and species and areas of scientific

interest and wildlife benefits will be protected from harm. All development will be within the environmental limits

placed on Breckland, particularly with respect to the district being located in the driest region of the country and

the extensive areas that are designated as European Habitats. The quality of the built environment, building on

the District's heritage and archaeological values, will be protected with high quality design being a key principle of

all development.

Question 2

Do you have any views which should be included in our vision? If so, how do you think Breckland should

develop?

Strategic Objectives

4.15 In addition to the vision, the new Local Plan must also include a clear set of strategic objectives. Objectives

are a way of translating ideas and aspirations into reality. The following objectives will help narrow the focus onto

the most practical methods of achieving the vision.

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 201414

4

22



4.16 Here are the strategic objectives proposed to include in the new Local Plan. We would welcome your

feedback on any or all of these. All are linked to later sections of this document and to separate chapters in the

main Issues and Options document.

Option 1

Proposed Strategic Objectives

Social

1. To deliver housing need to the most sustainable locations to reduce carbon reduction and ensure

sustainability;

2. To ensure the issues and challenges of affordable housing and social exclusion are addressed through

strategic sustainable planning, ensuring good accessibility for all jobs, facilities and services in Breckland;

3. To direct newmajor development to the most sustainable settlements to ensure housing need is delivered

and the services, facilities and infrastructure provision needed is balanced to accommodate for new

growth;

4. Working with local people to identify and address needs and priorities throughout the district, helping

to advance local need and local distinctiveness through the mechanism of the Localism agenda;

Economic

5. To ensure Thetford continues to develop as the principal town of Breckland acting as the key strategic

centre and gateway to the Brecks;

6. To ensure the A11 corridor continues to grow to bring prosperity for new and existing development and

employment advancing existing engineering, motor sports, research, development and logistics in and

around the locality and the connection to other high order sustainable settlements;

Environmental

7. To ensure protection and enhancement of the natural environment regarding the quality and

distinctiveness of the biodiversity, geodiversity and landscape character of Breckland;

8. To ensure more biodiversity due to Breckland’s predominantly rural nature ensuring infrastructure and

green infrastructure delivery keeps pace with the levels of growth, and subsequently improving health,

wellbeing and standards of living;

9. To require high quality design that meets high environmental standards and to enhance and protect

local distinctiveness and the tourism industry.

Question 3

These proposed nine objectives are based on the existing adopted Core Strategy and Development Control

Policies (2009), Breckland’s Corporate Plan (2011-2015) and supporting evidence base material.

Do you think these objectives are still relevant? If not, please explain why and how you think they could be

improved.

15Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 2014 23



Local Plan Time Period

4.17 The NPPF requires that the Local Plan covers an appropriate time scale, preferably a 15 year time horizon

and be kept up to date.

4.18 The present anticipated adoption date of the Local Plan is 2016 , allowing for 15yrs from adoption. one

option is to set the plan period to 2031. This would comply with the minimum requirements of the NPPF, and

match the Council's existing evidence base for housing and employment. The disadvantage of this approach is

that it does not allow much flexibility in the time line to account for market variations and for the incorporation of

changes in National Policy should these occur and that the council's evidence base may ultimately be out of

alignment with its neighbouring planning authorities.

4.19 A second option would be to align the plan period to the anticipated time line of neighbouring authorities

in Norfolk for the update of their Strategic Planning Documents. The current county wide approach for the Strategic

Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) is to gather evidence up into 2036 and the second option for the Local Plan

end date is to synchronise evidence gathering to coincide with these wider area initiatives. The main advantage

of this option would be the alignment of evidence gathering which would allow for more effective cross boundary

co-operation on strategic issues through the identification and direct comparisons of evidence with the potential

of greater strategic planning across the district. Similarly it will allow greater flexibility in the time line should changes

in national planning policy occur without revisiting some of the evidence base and aid in the soundness of the plan.

4.20 The disadvantage of this option would be that existing work on housing and employment targets would

have to be revisited to cover the longer time frame and further evidence base work would be required, also further

land would have to be identified and released in order to positively plan for the longer time period, though the

NPPF does allow for Local Plans to identify broad locations rather than specific deliverable and or developable

sites in the latter stages of the plan period.

Option 2

Set the plan period to 2031, in order to align with the 15 years required in the NPPF.

Option 3

Set the plan period to 2036, in order to align the evidence base with neighbouring authorities and enable

more effective cross boundary co-operation.

Question 4

Which option do you think is the most appropriate for the Council to chose and why?

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 201416

4

24



5 Housing

5.1 Housing Strategy

5.1 Previously the Council worked to housing targets set at a regional level through the Regional Spatial Strategy

(RSS). The scale of new housing needed to meet the RSS requirements equated to an average of 780 homes

each year, and this is reflected in the current adopted Core Strategy requirement of 19,100 new homes for the

period 2001-2026.

5.2 Changes brought about through the Localism Act 2011, now require local authorities to be responsible for

setting their own level of housing and employment provision. In preparing Local Plans, local authorities are required

by the NPPF to objectively assess the development needs for their area and plan to meet these needs in full.

5.3 These changes mean that alongside establishing where future development should go the Council needs

to establish an appropriate level of housing provision for the new plan period. The setting of this target must be in

the context of the NPPF and be based on current and future demographic trends, market trends and the needs of

different groups in the community. The NPPF requires that local planning authorities positively seek opportunities

to meet the development needs in their area. Every effort should be made to identify, meet and respond positively

to the wider opportunities for growth. In addition the process of setting a target must include consideration of cross

boundary issues and include a collaborative approach with neighbouring authorities and appropriate bodies across

the Housing Market Area. A failure to set a housing target that seeks to meet the objectively assessed development

needs of the district, including unmet requirements from neighbouring authorities where it is reasonable to do so

and consistent with achieving sustainable development, may not be considered sound.

5.4 Planning for an appropriate level of housing provision and the setting of a target requires consideration of a

range of forecasts for population, homes and jobs. The Council commissioned Nathaniel Lichfield and Partners

to undertake some preliminary modelling to help inform the objectively assessed housing and employment needs

from future population and employment growth. These technical reports form part of the background documents

used to inform the development of options. In addition the Council undertook a Strategic HousingMarket Assessment

in 2013 (SHMA). This looked at the future housing market for Breckland District and also the wider study areas

with a significant border with Breckland i.e where there was significant movement of population or other strong

economic factors. The 2013 SHMA, identified a demand for between 720 – 780 dwellings a year. In 2014 the

Council was invited to take part in a wider SHMAwith neighbouring authorities and the Greater Norwich Development

Partnership through the Duty to Co-Operate requirements of plan making. This option was not available to the

Council in 2013 and is more in line with the requirements of the NPPF where paragraph 159 states that a SHMA

should be worked up with neighbouring authorities where housing markets areas cross administrative boundaries.

As a consequence further work through an updated Strategic Housing Market Assessment is in progress with

neighbouring authorities and the findings will also have to be considered.

5.5 There is no national guidance available on assessing development needs in accordance with the National

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requirements and therefore these technical papers explore a number of different

demographic and economic forecasts and scenarios based on a wide range of national, sub-national and local

data. The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), advice that the starting point for estimating need should

be the latest population and household projections. The different scenarios are presented reflecting demographic

led, economic led and supply-side led growth through separate forecasting models and represent an overview of

population change and economic performance for the period 2011-2031. The East of England Forecasting Model

(EEFM) is primarily a forecast tool based on economic led growth and an understanding of the relationship between

employment and housing, while the POPGroup model is based on demographic derived forecasts.

5.6 Current evidence suggests that the Plan will need to deliver 634-699 dwellings per year to meet local housing

need based on population forecasts and up to 770 dwellings per year when future economic and employment

growth is factored in and translated into dwelling requirements.

17Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 2014 25



5.7 A figure of 634 dwellings per annum is suggested based on a continuation of long term migration trends,

both domestic and international over the past 10 years for the district, utilising the Mid Year Estimates Series for

2001 – 2011. This also equates to the level of housing required to support jobs growth within the 2013 East of

England Forecasting scenario. This indicates growth of 3,957 jobs between 2011 and 2031 and projects an average

housing demand of 634 dwellings per annum. This is called the economic baseline position. A higher figure of 699

dwellings per annum is suggested based on a continuation of current population changes utilising the 2011-based

interim sub-national population projections, which are the most up to date figures. In addition to the suggested

dwelling range which represents the objectively assessed housing need, a higher figure of 770 dwellings per annum

is also suggested if economic growth is higher than the East of England Forecasting Model. This is based on key

policy priorities, regeneration and investment opportunities for the district and the assumptions that growth is

maximised. These scenarios translate into dwelling numbers as per the table below.

Issue 1

Growth Scenarios

Overall dwelling

numbers to 2011-

2036

Overall housing

numbers to 2011-

2031

Annualised Housing

Growth (dwellings)

Growth Scenarios

15,85012,680634Base line

17,47513,9806992011 Sub-national Population

Projections

19,25015,400770Economic growth (maximised)

N/AN/ATo be publishedJoint Strategic Housing Market

Assessment 2014, (emerging)*

Table 5.1 Growth Scenarios

* Note further work through an updated Strategic Housing Market Assessment is in progress through a joint

approach with Norwich County Council and the Norfolk district authorities. This is expected to report late October

2014.

5.8 These Growth Scenarios set out different levels of housing provision for the plan period, which can be

compared to the currently committed and planned comments. Although this may be useful context in setting a

housing target it should be noted that a more positive outlook associated with economic development could be

judged more in line with the requirements of the NPPF. In order to be positively set housing growth must be at a

level that is supportive in promoting economic growth and infrastructure requirements and in line with other elements

of the Local Plan and national policy.

Land Supply

5.9 Since the adoption of the Core Strategy, sites have been identified to deliver the planned growth through to

2026. These are identified in the 2012 adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals DPD and the adopted Thetford

Area Action Plan as well as being progressed through the Attleborough and Snetterton Heath Area Action Plan,

which is now being progressed through this Local Plan. Table 5.2 below shows the existing completed, committed

and planned for baseline position.

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 201418

5

26



DwellingsCompleted and Committed

675Dwellings already completed (April 2011 - March 2013)

Dwellings with Planning permission as of 1
st
April 2014

5,000*Thetford Strategic Urban Extension (SUE)

Other Sites
2,023

Allocated sites (without permission)

4,000**Attleborough

Other sites
1,049

12,747Total

Table 5.2 Completed, Committed and Planned Dwelling Numbers

*Resolution to grant planning permission subject to section 106 agreement 4th April 2014.

**Attleborough 4000 is a strategic allocation through the Core Strategy.

5.10 The 12,747 dwellings currently committed or planned for is broadly equivalent to the lower end of the

expected range of objectively assessed needs (634 dwelling a year between 2011 and 2031). In contrast, additional

land would need to be found to provide for 2,653 dwellings if the higher end of the expected range is applied (770

dwellings per year between 2011 and 2031). These figures are further expanded on in the table below:

Additional land/dwelling

requirement 2011-2036

Additional land/dwelling

requirement 2011-2031

Committed /planned for

dwellings March 2014

Growth Scenario &

Dwellings/year

6,7532,85312,747Existing

Development

Strategy

3,1036712,747Base Line, 634

4,7281,23312,747Sub-national

Population

Projections, 699

6,5032,65312,747Economic Growth,

770

5,253-6,7531,653-2,85312,747SHMA (2013),

720-780

Table 5.3 Growth Scenarios and Land Requirements

5.11 The Local Plan, through the setting of the spatial strategy provides the Council with the opportunity to look

again at the scale and distribution of allocations. (See chapter 8)

19Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 2014 27



5.12 The NPPF, (paragraph 159), requires that the Council prepare a Strategic Housing Land Availability

Assessment (SHLAA), to establish realistic assumptions about the availability, suitability and the likely economic

viability of land to meet the identified need for housing over the plan period. An updated study is currently underway

and will form part of the background evidence when complete.

5.13 Deciding on how many new homes (and jobs) should be provided, and where these are best located is a

step by step process, beginning with this “Issues and Options” consultation. The Growth Scenarios set out below

offer different levels and form different options for the level of housing provision for the plan period. Comments

received on these levels will inform any decisions the Council takes as it develops the Local Plan. It is worth noting

that whilst the need to provide more homes to meet identified needs is paramount the target has to be set in line

with the NPPF. Setting a housing target at the lower levels could undermine other elements of the overall strategy

if other elements of the strategy seek to promote economic growth.

Option 4

634 new dwellings per year

5.14 This option is based on the lower end of the objectively assessed needs range, utilising the jobs growth at

the number of jobs within the 2013 East of England Forecasting Model Baseline projection, as adopted in the

Breckland Economic Growth Study 2013. It would mean land for an additional 67 dwellings between 2011 & 2031

and 3,103 dwellings if the plan period is extended to 2036 once currently committed or planned for dwelling are

taken into account.

Option 5

699 new dwellings per year

5.15 This option is based on a continuation of current population changes utilising the 2011-based interim

sub-national population projections. It would mean land for an additional 1,233 dwellings between 2011 & 2031

and 4,728 dwellings if the plan period is extended to 2036 once currently committed or planned for dwelling are

taken into account.

Option 6

770 new dwellings per year

5.16 This option is based on the maximisation of economic growth. It would only occur if the key policy priorities,

regeneration and investment opportunities for the district are achieved. It assumes that this is the maximum growth

that can be achieved through economic growth. It would mean land for an additional 2,653 dwellings between

2011 & 2031 and 6,503 dwellings if the plan period is extended to 2036 once currently committed or planned for

dwelling are taken into account.

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 201420

5

28



Option 7

Growth levels indicated from the emerging Norfolk wide SHMA, (taking into account the wider housing market

area and cross boundary issues ).

5.17 The 2013 Strategic Housing Market Assessment study identified a demand for between 720 – 780 dwellings

a year. Additional work is currently being undertaken with neighbouring authorities over the wider Housing Market

Areas. The future findings of this yet to be published SHMA will also have to be considered and subject to a

Sustainability Appraisal. The new joint SHMA is being prepared and currently expected to be available in due

course.

5.18 Based on updated 2012 population figures and the and the recognition of Greater Norwich 's influence

on the wider housing market areas there is a potential risk that the new figures might significantly deviate from the

options above.

Question 5

Bearing in mind the target has to be set in line with the NPPF and National Policy Guidance.

Which level of housing growth should the local plan provide for?

Are there any other reasonable alternatives that should be considered at this stage?

Sustainability Assessment

5.19 The provision of new housing is likely to have a positive impact on housing need in the district including

affordability, and increased variety of size and tenure. Overall, higher targets are likely to have more positive

impact upon those objectives relating to socio-economic considerations and a negative impact on those objectives

relating to environmental protection. For example, higher housing numbers may result in increased levels of

housing, affordable housing which is intrinsically linked to job opportunities. However, there will be increased

demand for water resources and impacts upon biodiversity, the natural environment and pollution levels. Conversely,

lower targets tend to have a more positive impact on environmental considerations and neutral or negative impacts

on socio-economic criteria.

21Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 2014 29



5.2 Affordable Housing

Issue 2

Affordable Housing and Other Forms of Housing Needs

5.20 A sufficient supply of housing of all tenures, including affordable housing is essential to meet the objective

of the Local Plan and to meet the wide range of housing needs that will be experienced in the district over the plan

period. The 2013 Strategic Housing Market Assessment identified that there is a requirement for affordable dwellings

in all areas of the district, with the most acute needs in Dereham and the north-east.

5.21 The Current Local Plan requires 40% affordable housing provision on all schemes over 5 or more dwellings

or comprises of an area of 0.17 ha or larger. Since adoption in 2009 on average a 26% approval rate for affordable

housing provision has been achieved, with 717 affordable dwellings being approved to date (1st April 2009 - 20th

March 2014).

5.22 This difference can be explained in a number of ways. Not all sites are capable of delivering 40% affordable

housing because of physical constraints and or exceptional costs or challenging market conditions has meant that

the viability cushion has been reduced. In determining planning applications a balance has to be made between

the viability of a development and the cumulative policy requirements at that point in time. Similarly some

applications are for 100% affordable housing . Each application is therefor judged on its own individual merits. It

remains fundamental that in assessing the policy requirement for affordable housing in the new Local Plan that

viability is an essential consideration and further work needs to be undertaken to assess this threshold and the

viability cushion in the current market conditions.

5.23 The 2013 SHMA, identified that the need for affordable housing remains strong and that there is a continuing

requirement for affordable housing in all areas across the district. The most acute needs are in Dereham and the

North East of the district.

5.24 The SHMA concluded that there was a need for 398 new additional affordable housing units per annum

over the next five years and that in terms of need alone this would justify a 40-45% affordable housing requirement.

In therms of overall housing need it identified an annualised requirement for 720-780 dwellings a year between

2011-2031. If the full affordable housing requirements were delivered this would equate to 51- 55% of the housing

need. However given the historical completion rates below, it is clear that there is a shortfall between delivery and

identified need that will not be addressed solely through the planning system. The SHMA concluded that the there

was sufficient evidence to continue to seek 40% affordable housing contribution or consider an increase to 45%-50%.

5.25 Housing need has to be balanced against the amount of affordable homes that developers can provide in

viability terms. The NPPF seeks affordable housing targets set at a level that does not affect overall viability and

deliverability. Therefore a viability study will be part of the key evidence base and will be developed to inform the

detailed policies at Preferred Options stage.

5.26 Further evidence will be collected to determine a viable affordable housing requirement and threshold, and

it is likely that a compromise has to be made between the affordable housing need and the general viability of

development to avoid stifling development.

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 201422

5

30



Picture 5.1 Affordable Housing Completions 2001-2013

Type and Tenure

5.27 In 2011 the Government introduced Affordable Rent as the principle element of the new supply offer.

Affordable Rent homes will be made available to tenants up to a maximum of 80% of market rent and allocated in

the same way as social housing is at the moment through housing providers and flexible tenancies. Affordable

Rent forms the principle element of the supply offer from the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) and allows

providers a more flexible approach, helping to reduce the amount of public funding needed in the delivery of

affordable housing.

5.28 The 2013 SHMA also considered that the evidence is sufficient to recommend a split of 65% affordable

rented and 35% intermediate or shared equity housing. However, it stressed that these findings will be tested as

part of the wider viability work of the Local Plan process which will be crucial in determining a deliverable affordable

housing requirement.

5.29 The NPPF says that we should deliver a wide choice of types and sizes for a balanced community. This

means providing the right mix of flats , houses, bungalows to meet the needs of all age groups and providing the

right combination of smaller and larger properties for each type. The 2013 SHMA considered the need for different

dwelling mix and property size. The assessment shows a need for properties of all sizes, albeit a lower level of

need for 1-bedroom properties. The council has a preference for new properties to be 2 -3 bed housing as this is

where the overall identified need is required. However it adopts a flexible approach in order to help address local

need and assesses applications on an individual basis. An alternative approach would be to develop polices which

actively seek to address shortages per type.

Policy Options

5.30 In setting an affordable housing target (subject to viability testing):

23Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 2014 31



Option 8

One option would be to seek:

The continuation of the approach set out in the current Core Strategy, and subject to new viability testing

retain the existing 40% affordable housing target.

Sustainability Appraisal Outcome

A continued approach as set out in the current Core Strategy reflects the requirement from the NPPF to allow

developers to make reasonable profit to encourage housing development. Providing new affordable homes is a

key priority for the Council. Whilst the council recognise the importance that everyone has the opportunity to live

in a decent home that is suitable for their needs, it also has to be realistic about what can be achieved. The potential

recommended target will need to take these considerations into account.

Option 9

An alternative approach would be to seek higher contributions of between 45%- 50%. This approach would

seek to meet affordable needs, but may impact greater on the viability of schemes . The result may lead to

other compromises and the setting of policy priorities.

Sustainability Assessment Outcome

5.31 A higher proportion of affordable housing would help to ensure that residents of Breckland had access to

the housing that they need, which in turn would support their health and well being. It would help ensure that

workers who might otherwise not be able to afford market prices could live near their jobs. However, it might make

some housing sites non-viable because of the combined cost of providing affordable housing and (for instance)

providing necessary new infrastructure, cleaning up contamination, or dealing with other site constraints. Therefore,

this approach carries potential risk of stifling development, thus preventing developers bringing sites forward and

may impact on the implementation of other policy aspirations such as local design options. Additionally, this might

mean that Greenfield sites are developed over more expensive brownfield sites, which is not a good use of land

and is likely to increase the need to travel by car. Additionally, the provision of high levels of affordable housing

may impact on other areas such as provision of services & facilities, open space, Green Infrastructure, design,

landscape, biodiversity & geodiversity improvements etc.

Option 10

A further approach would be to seek a lower contribution than the current Core Strategy and the

recommendations of the 2013 SHMA.

Sustainability Assessment Outcome

5.32 A lower proportion of affordable housing would allow more housing sites to be viable, including brownfield

sites and/or sites nearer services and public transport. However, although this is likely to lead to higher rates of

house building overall, these dwellings may not be the kind needed by local residents and result in considerable

quantities of unmet need and it could affect the soundness of the plan. This could further exacerbate existing

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 201424

5

32



inequalities such as overcrowding, poor housing quality and therefore health and well being. Employers may not

find it easy to recruit local residents because of difficulties that the residents face in living near their jobs. The

NPPF requires where affordable housing is required, local plans should set polices that meet local needs.

Question 6

What level of affordable housing provision do you think can achieve a better balance between affordable

housing provision and other priorities?

Are there any other reasonable alternatives to be considered at this stage?

Specified type and tenure mix

Option 11

One option would be to develop a policy that specifies the tenure mix to be achieved by all development and

provide a starting point in assisting to meed the identify needs in relation to type and size.

Option 12

A second option would be to continue with the current approach provided through the 2013 SHMA.

5.33 Whilst the approach to setting a policy through option 10 would have some merits, it may become outdated

quickly and difficult to apply over the plan period. It may also not allow for flexibility to adapt to changes in housing

requirements on a local basis.

5.34 Option11 allows greater flexibility on a case by case basis with regard local need and viability assessments.

Question 7

Which option on type and tenure do you prefer?

Are there any other reasonable alternatives that should be considered?

Specialist Housing

5.35 A sufficient supply of housing of all tenures is essential to meet the objectives of the Local Plan and to meet

the wide range of housing needs that will be experienced in the district over the plan period. Apart from the provision

of additional affordable housing units, there are other types of accommodation that are needed , such as specialist

forms of housing, in particular for housing with care, older people's accommodation and custom build. Specialist

housing is intended to enable people to live as independently as possible, but is designed so that support can be

provided. Extra care housing for older people, where there is access to care and support on site but residents

have their own front door is one example. The location of this type of housing needs careful consideration and

should be in accordance with locally identified need.

25Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 2014 33



5.36 When assessing the suitability of extra care and other specialist housing

Option 13

One option could be to develop a policy which requires sites to be accessed by good levels of local transport,

have convenient access to local shops and a safe environment. Consideration should also be given to the

provision of health care.

Option 14

A second option could be not to develop a policy in this area at all and allow proposals to come forward in

accordance with local need and the market.

5.37 The 2013 SHMA also concludes that it was not necessary to have a specific policy or allocation for self-build

in the local authority, as this need could be met by amendments to settlement boundaries or specific "trial sites"

on public sector land.

Question 8

Is there a need for a policy to address this issue?

What types of specialised housing are required in particular in the district and where?

Should the Local Plan support the delivery of self build /custom build housing over and above the requirements

of the NPPF? e.g through the direct allocation and or development of polices?

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 201426

5

34



5.3 Gypsies and Travellers

Issue 3

Gypsies and Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Provision

5.38 The Council has a legal duty to consider the needs of Gypsies and Travellers and Travelling Showpeople

in the same way as all other sectors of the community. A Norfolk-wide Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs

Assessment (GTAA) was undertaken by the Norfolk Gypsy & Traveller liaison group in 2006. The document

established the accommodation and travelling needs for Gypsies and Travellers across the County and fed into

the East of England Plan revision regarding the provision of permanent and transit sites. Breckland's identified

need for permanent pitch provision based on its own evidence at that time was for an additional 12

pitches. Shortly after this, the East of England Regional Assembly published its East of England Plan revision

around the provision of permanent and transit sites within the region. After consultation on the Plan, it was

decided to redistribute site provision across the Region which resulted in a requirement for 15 new permanent

pitches to be sited in Breckland over the period 2006-11.

5.39 Policy CP2 of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy (2009) covers the Gypsy and Travelling

community. The Policy takes the appropriate scale of pitch provision up to 2011 (of 15 additional pitches), as set

out in the single issue review of the Regional Spatial Strategy around Gypsies and Travellers. The main geographic

position for sites is identified along the A11corridor, with Thetford and Attleborough viewed as the most sustainable

locations. The allocation of any specific permanent site was to be made in either the Site Specific Policies and

Proposals Development Plan Document, or the Attleborough and Snetterton Heath Area Action Plan, depending

on the location identified for such a site. Any provision of short stay stopping places would not be seen as

contributing to the 15 permanent pitches.

5.40 The NPPF and accompanying policy statement
(2)
places a statutory responsibility on local authorities to

objectively assess the housing needs of the Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showpeople community in their

areas and to plan tomeet those needs. TheGovernment seeks to ensure that Authoritiesmake their own assessment

of need based on analysis of various data sources reflecting their local circumstances, and providing evidence for

a 5-year supply of deliverable sites. There is also the requirement to identify a supply of developable sites or broad

locations for growth, for the first 6-10 years and where possible for years 11-15.

5.41 In May 2013, the Council appointed Salford Housing & Urban Studies Unit (SHUSU) together with

Cambridgeshire Research Group (CRG) to produce a Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA).

The GTAA report provides a projected requirement for both permanent and transit pitches over the future 15 year

periods 2013/14 -2017/18, 2018/19 - 2023/24 and 2023/24 -2027/28. It also identifies broad locations where the

need would be best met, whilst recommending criteria for determining specific locations for sites.

5.42 It should be noted that the current evidence base for Gypsy and Traveller need is up to 2028. The plan

options detailed earlier are to set the plan period to 2031 or 2036. Planning Policy for Traveller sites, DCLG 2012,

states that there is a requirement to identify a supply of developable sites or broad locations for growth, for the

first 6-10 years and where possible for the years 11-15. The NPPF requires that Local Plans cover an appropriate

time scale, preferably a 15 year time horizon and be kept up to date. There will be a requirement to update an

element of need to allow for the NPPF requirement of at least identified 15 years from adoption. In order to be

robust it will be necessary to review household formations and future need based on the local population make

up rather than on a predict and provide basis through an extrapolation of the existing figures.

Future Pitch and Plot Need

2 DCLG (2012) Planning Policy for Traveller Sites

27Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 2014 35



5.43 The study reveals that the Gypsy & Traveller population within the district is relatively stable and that any

movement into the district is currently adequately met by a combination of the short-stay stopping site in Thetford

and the various private sites across Breckland. It concludes that the majority of anticipated growth is expected to

come from the existing Gypsy and Traveller Community currently residing in the district.

5.44 They study concludes that there shall be a need of an additional 33 permanent pitches across the district

over the next 15 years, of which 22 pitches are needed in the next 5 years. In terms of transit provision, the study

suggests that 3-5 additional transit pitches are provided over the next 5 year period, with a total of between 11-13

pitches being provided between now and 2028. Finally, analysis has shown there to be no current need for

additional plot provision for Travelling Showpeople over the assessment period. Table 5.4 'Summary of Gypsy,

Traveller and Travelling Showpeople accommodation and pitch need (2013-2028)' illustrates the pitch and plot

needs provision in more detail.

Travelling

Showpeopleneed

(plots)

Gypsy and Traveller

transit Need

(pitches)

Gypsy and Traveller

Residential Need

(pitches)

5851Current authorised residential provision

03-522Gross Anticipated Need 2013/14 -

2017/18

008Further Need 2018/19 - 2013/24

089Additional Need 2023/24 - 2027-28

011-1333Total net additional need 2013-2028

Table 5.4 Summary of Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople accommodation and pitch need

(2013-2028)

Site Size

5.45 Government policy does not advise on the most appropriate design solution that would be considered

conducive in providing an appropriate living environment for the Gypsy or Traveller community. However, paragraph

4.7 of the Good Practice Guide for Designing Gypsy and Traveller Sites
(3)
suggests that a maximum of 15 pitches

is conducive to providing a comfortable environment.

'There is no one ideal size of site or number of pitches although experience of site managers and residents

alike suggest that a maximum of 15 pitches is conducive to providing a comfortable environment which

is easy to manage. However, smaller sites of three-four pitches can also be successful, particularly where designed

for one extended family. These can be advantageous in making good use of small plots of land, whilst retaining

the qualities described in this guidance and expected by families on modern sites’.

5.46 Additionally, paragraph 4.8 suggests that:

‘Sites should ideally consist of up to 15 pitches in capacity unless there is clear evidence to suggest that a larger

site is preferable by the local Gypsy or traveller community. Nevertheless, where a larger site is unavoidable, or

where one exists already, in few cases smaller “closers” have been created within the site for extended families,

thereby retaining the sense of community and creating defensible space’.

3 DCLG (2008) Designing Gypsy and Traveller Sites Good Practice Guide

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 201428

5

36



5.47 In determining site sizes, consideration needs to be given to the need to:

Provide sufficient sites to allow those who wish to live together in groups and those who wish to live separately

from other groups.

Ensure site size will take into account the specific site circumstances, including the surrounding population

and density.

Consider the effect of family make up and potential family growth on site size options to prevent overcrowding

and potential displacement.

5.48 In terms of the ethnic background of existing Gypsy and Traveller population, the 2013 GTAA identifies

that the local population is mainly 82% Romany Gypsy with a smaller range of other groups - Irish (5.6%), Welsh

(4.5%) and Scottish (3.3%). Additionally, the existing Gypsy and Traveller community in Breckland is estimated

to include 113 households made up of 425 Individuals, where 174 (41.4%) of these are recorded to be within the

0-16 age group, of which 72 (41%) are within the 11-16 yrs range.

5.49 Gypsy and Traveller accommodation and pitch needs will vary from district to district. In Breckland, the

study suggests that the majority of anticipated growth will come from the existing Gypsy and Traveller community.

This is highlighted by the analysis of pitch need which identifies that the highest need requirement (10

households/pitches) comes from the households living on private pitches with temporary planning permission that

come to an end by 2018. Additionally, the 5 unauthorised developments (but tolerated) were considered long term

residents and in need of accommodation. Finally, the combined need for permanent residential accommodation

from unauthorised encampments and transit site occupants total six pitches where the households reviewed for

the study expressed a desire for permanent residential accommodation in Breckland.

5.50 Household formation rates are an important component of accommodation assessment for Gypsy and

Travellers. However, the 2013 GTAA concluded that there was not a need for additional pitches up to 2018 as a

result of increased household formation. Those that require additional living accommodation could be achieved

by amendments to existing planning consents to facilitate this. However, one pitch was required to alleviate

overcrowding.

5.51 The need for pitches from 2018 onwards has been derived from household growth projections, based on

a 3% per annum compound rate of household growth. This figure is then applied to the projected number of

pitches which should be available by 2017, minus an assumed ratio of 1:0.75 used to account for any potential

pitch sharing
(4)

5.52 In ensuring that sites meet Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showpeople needs, the following options

have been identified:

Option 15

Sites generally to have no more than 15 pitches

Option 16

Take a flexible approach to the mixture of site sizes in order to accommodate individual families and groups?

4 A pitch sharing rate of 1:0.75 was recommended for use in the South East Examination in Public Panel.

29Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 2014 37



Question 9

Which option or options do you consider to the most appropriate? Are there any other reasonable alternatives?

Site tenure

5.53 The socio-economic situation of the Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showpeople will vary. Different

forms of tenure on sites may be suitable for different groups, and it is important to recognise that not all members

of the travelling community will be able to provide for their own needs. Whilst some will be able to afford to purchase

or rent pitches at market rates, other will require additional support to access safe and secure accommodation

in line with their cultural needs.

5.54 The study reveals that the majority of respondents generally feel that a private authorised site would

be the best type of accommodation to meet their households needs. However, many respondents reported

that they could not afford to purchase land or a private pitch. In relation to the tenure of the pitches to be required,

the study suggests that the Splashes socially rented site in Swaffham is currently meeting the need for socially

rented pitches in the district. However, this need will need to be closely assessed with subsequent reviews to the

GTAA.

5.55 The 2013 GTAA identified that there could be a requirement of up to 33 additional pitches in Breckland up

to 2028. The forms of tenure that may be provided include:

Privately owned and managed to be rented

Privately owned for owner occupation

Publicly owned and managed by Local Authority or Registered Provider

Question 10

What sort of tenures do you consider would best suit the needs of the Gypsy and Travellers community in

Breckland? Should a mix of sites with different tenures be planned for?

Mixed Use Sites

5.56 Guidance
(5)
suggest that local authorities should consider where ever possible including traveller sites

suitable for mixed residential and business use, having regard to the safety and amenity of residents and

neighbouring residents. If mixed sites are not practical then the guidance recommends that local authorities should

consider the scope for identifying separate sites for residential and for business use in close proximity to each

other.

5.57 Whilst the 2013 GTAA , did not report that respondents wanted more space for business needs, it is an

important consideration for future provision.

5 DCLG, (2012), Planning for Traveller Sites - Policy F

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 201430

5

38



Question 11

Should the local authority plan to allocate sites suitable for mixed use which can accommodate both residential

and business use, or just plan for residential use?

Accommodating Future Need

5.58 The NPPF stipulates that Traveller sites should be sustainable, economically, socially and environmentally

located. Selecting the right location for a site is a key element in supporting good community relations andmaximising

its success. As with any form of housing, poorly located sites will have a detrimental effect and the inhabitant’s

ability to access services such as education, health and shopping, and consideration needs to be given to ensuring

that proposals to develop sites link in with other broader strategies.

5.59 Planning Policy for Gypsies and Travellers says in paragraph 10 that:

….criteria based polices should be fair and should facilitate the traditional and nomadic life of travellers while

respecting the interests of the settled community.

5.60 Section 11 of the
(6)
provides further guidance. Local planning authorities should ensure that traveller sites

are sustainable economically, socially and environmentally. Local planning authorities should, therefore, ensure

that their policies:

a. Promote peaceful and integrated co-existence between the site and the local community

b. Promote, in collaboration with commissioners of health services, access to appropriate health services

c. Ensure that children can attend school on a regular basis

d. Provide a settled base that reduces the need for long-distance travelling and possible environmental damage

caused by unauthorised encampment

e. Provide for proper consideration of the effect of local environmental quality (such as noise and air quality)

on the health and well-being of any travellers that may locate there or on others as a result of new development

f. Avoid placing undue pressure on local infrastructure and services

g. Do not locate sites in areas at high risk of flooding, including functional floodplains, given the particular

vulnerability of caravans

h. Reflect the extent to which traditional lifestyles (whereby some travellers live and work from the same location

thereby omitting many travel to work journeys) can contribute to sustainability

5.61 The following criteria will form the background for selecting the most appropriate sites:

1. Location in or near to settlements / proximity to local services. Sites in or near to existing settlements

are prioritised. Such sites are generally more sustainable than those in remote areas, with better access to

services and in particular education and health. Given high land values and competition it is unlikely that

many sites will be made available within settlement boundaries. The reality then would be for sites to be

adjacent to settlements with access to local health and educational facilities. The Council's preference would

6 DCLG, (2012), Planning for Traveller Sites

31Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 2014 39



be for well related sites located in and near to settlements classed at local service centres and above in the

settlement hierarchy. The priority will be that access to services can be reasonably obtained so as to meet

the day to day needs of the occupiers, recognising the differences in lifestyles and working patterns and

transport preferences.

2. Access to vehicular considerations. Sites are required to have safe and convenient vehicular access and

provide adequate car parking space. The development should avoid significant impacts on local roads and

be well located to major routes.

3. Previously used land. National planning policy encourages planning policies and decisions to encourage

the effective use of land by re-using land that has been previously developed (brownfield land), provided that

it is not of high environmental value. There is recognition that there is a lack of brownfield sites in the district

and they will not necessarily be available for Gypsy and Traveller sites. Therefore, although important,

realistically there may be limited alternatives to Greenfield land.

4. Visual impact. The local topography and form of the landscape will affect the visibility of a Gypsy and Traveller

site and will affect its ability to integrate into its surroundings. Some sites will be highly visible, and others

more visually contained. Sites should respect the scale of the environment, be of a scale proportionate to

the local community and be capable of visual and acoustic privacy. Sites which allow appropriate natural

screening will be considered more favourably.

5. Infrastructure. Sites will not be chosen if they place undue pressure on local infrastructure and services.

Sites should be capable of being served by appropriate service infrastructure.

6. International, national and local land designations. The district has a wealth of environmental assets.

Site locations must not compromise the objectives of any potential designations.

7. Flood Risk.Caravans and mobile homes are highly vulnerable to flooding. National and local policies dictate

not to allocate sites in areas of high risk of flooding, including that of functional flood plans. It is not proposed

to deviate from this requirement in the selection of sites.

8. Health and safety and hazards. In order to ensure sites provide a healthy and safe environment for residents

sites should not be located on contaminated land and avoid areas of unsuitable noise, air quality and major

hazards such as pipelines.

Question 12

Do you agree with the criteria 1-8? Please give a detailed answer explaining any reasoning.

Are there any additional criteria which should be considered in selecting the best locations and sites for

Gypsies and Travellers?

Strategic Approach

5.62 In terms of meeting needs within the district, the Gypsy and Traveller population appears relatively stable

with a small number of unauthorised encampments each year. Additionally, updated evidence from the 2013,

GTAA indicates that there is no direct evidence of a strong preference for the A11 corridor compared with that of

A47, which is contrary to the locational principles as set out in the adopted Core Strategy. (This however, is not

the same as suggesting that sites would not be considered suitable in these locations). The evidence within the

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 201432

5

40



GTAA indicates that there is a preference towards Swaffham and Watton and the areas surrounding the north of

the district, predominantly due to the location of family members. The spatial distribution of different types of sites

within the district are identified on Picture 5.2 'Map of existing Gypsy and Traveller Sites'.

 

Picture 5.2 Map of existing Gypsy and Traveller Sites

5.63 It is likely that the combination of the official short stay and private sites in Breckland are catering for visitors

to the area. This means that the accommodation needs arising, in the main are fromGypsy and Traveller residents

of the district as opposed to those from outside the area. The 2013, GTAA suggests that a significant proportion

of the accommodation need within the district can be met in the first five years by regularising the existing sites

without permanent planning permission. Table 5.4 'Summary of Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople

accommodation and pitch need (2013-2028)' illustrates the potential scenarios for meeting the identified need

without undertaking significant new searches for land. However, this would require determination of whether they

the existing temporary sites are in appropriate locations. If this policy approach was adopted, the required need

within the first 5 years illustrated in table below

33Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 2014 41



Remaining Need

2013/14 - 2017/18

22Total Pitch Need (2013/14-2017/18 (gross)

12If permanent planning permission is granted to the 10 pitches with temporary permission.Scenario 1

7If permanent planning permission is granted to the 10 pitches with temporary permission

and the five pitches on unauthorised developments.

Scenario 2

1If permanent planning permission is granted to the 10 pitches with temporary permission

and the five pitches on unauthorised developments. With the vacant site at Woods End

being developed into a fully occupied site.

Scenario 3

Table 5.5 Potential scenarios for meeting the identified need

5.64 To ensure that sites are located in the most suitable location, the study provides three broad options by

which additional pitches could be provided within the district. It suggests that a combination of three criteria, which

includes land availability, proximity to existing services and locations of existing demand, should be used in

assessing locations for Gypsy and Traveller provision. Table 5.6 ' Assessment of options to meet future need'

illustrates the assessment of these options to meet future need within the Breckland district.

DisadvantagesAdvantagesRationaleOption

This approach would be based on seeking

to provide sites that are put forward by

developers or which are in Breckland

Land

availability

This could raise challenges

of sites not being in the

right locations to meet the

Having a willing land owner in place

is likely to increase the chance of

the site being brought forward

within the required timescale to

meet Gypsy and Traveller needs.

Council ownership. This would ensure that

the approach put forward is both viable

and deliverable in terms of site allocations.

needs and demands of

existing Gypsy and

Traveller communities.

Potential sites would need to be

judged against criteria to ensure that

they have access to an appropriate

range of services and amenities.

This approach is based on allocating

pitches between the settlements in the

district in accordance with those

Proximity to

existing

services

There may be questions

raised if it is appropriate to

use the same policy

Could be considered to align with

broader policy emphasis.

settlements that have a higher proportion approach for the Gypsy and

Traveller community as with

the settled community.

Would focus the population into

those larger settlements where

there is a greater concentration of

services and amenities. This would

enable these communities to access

these resources.

of services. By adopting such an approach

it would appear likely that sites put forward

would be more likely to benefit from

access to services and amenities. This may not focus the

additional pitches where

Gypsy and Traveller

community want them to beAs part of this sequential approach

the existing distribution of pitches

would be considered to develop a

sustainable approach.

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 201434

5

42



DisadvantagesAdvantagesRationaleOption

This approach is predicated on the fact

that the main driver of demand for

additional pitches in the district is private

Focusing on

areas where

there is an

Potential insufficient

capacity to provide

additional pitches on the

existing socially rented site

to meet overall needs.

This approach would mean that

additional pitches would be provided

where these communities are

already established.sites with temporary planning permission

and unauthorised developments.

Therefore within this approach additional

pitches should be sought in proximity to

existing Gypsy and Traveller communities

in the district.

existing

demand

Being in such proximity could be

beneficial for families and extended

families by causing less disruption.

This may not be well

received by the non Gypsy

and Traveller communities

in these areas.

Table 5.6 Assessment of options to meet future need

5.65 ?

Question 13

In determining the suitability of sites what are your views on the following options to meet future Gypsy and

Traveller need within the Breckland district?

Option 17

Land availability.

Option 18

Proximity to existing services and facilities.

Option 19

Focusing in areas where there is an existing demand.

Sustainability Appraisal outcome

5.66 The sustainability appraisal illustrates clear linkages between the principle of sustainable development and

sites being located near location with existing services and facilities. By allocating pitches near settlements in

the district that have a higher proportion of services and facilities would result less journey by the private car and

would focus the population in to or near settlements which had a great concentration of services and amenities

such as schools and health care. Additionally, this may also offer a greater range of employment opportunities

for those seeking work which could increase heath, social and well being needs. Alternatively, the needs of the

Gypsy and Travelling community should be taken into consideration and considering an approach to focus

35Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 2014 43



development where there is an already an existing need could be beneficial for existing families. However, this

may not be the most sustainable solution and sites may be located in unsuitable areas for long term requirements

and does not appear as preferable when assessed against a number of sustainability criterion's.

Call for Sites

5.67 As part of the current consultation we are seeking information on sites in private ownership that may be

considered suitable for allocation as Gypsy and Traveller or Travelling Showpeople sites. Are you aware of any

sites with potential for gypsy and traveller provision? If yes, please put the sites forward using the "Call for Sites"

form as specified in

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 201436

5

44



6 Economy

6.1 Breckland's Economy

6.1 The size and dispersed nature of the area's population presents significant challenges for the Council in

delivering balanced economic growth. Breckland's strategic position is emphasised by the good road communications

offered by the A47 and A11, the latter of which will soon receive major improvements providing a complete dualled

road linking Norfolk to the rest of the country for the first time. The five market towns, Attleborough, Dereham,

Swaffham, Thetford and Watton, are an essential component of the economic and social structure, acting as

service centres to their rural hinterlands. The area has seen a rapid population growth, increasing pay levels and

low rates of unemployment and there is a trend for the overall number of jobs to increase. However, average wages

remain relatively low in comparison with regional and national levels due to lower level of qualifications of people

in the district and low level of skills required by many of the available jobs.

6.2 The local economy has undergone significant changes in recent years. However the rural nature of the

district means agriculture and food processing related sectors still remain strong whilst some sectors, such as the

manufacturing sectors are undergoing future decline. The challenge remains to effectively respond to economic

signals and providing policies to guide and support the growth in a flexible way.

6.3 The local economy reflects the wider economic climate which has changed significantly over the last few

years. The period since late 2007 has been dominated by global banking crisis and subsequent credit crunch.

Although it seems that the wider UK economy is out of recession, the UK faces ongoing challenges in re-establishing

economic growth and reducing a very substantial national budget deficit. There is a strong emphasis nationally

from the coalition government on removing barriers to economic growth and incentivising businesses.

37Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 2014 45



6.2 General Economic Strategies

Issue 4

General Economic Strategies

6.4 Closely linked to housing growth , it is widely recognised that the local economy has the potential to provide

sufficient jobs to support the level of required housing growth. On the other hand jobs growth will also depend on

housing growth. Jobs and employment potential should be the key priorities when considering any form of

development, especially rural development. A fine balance will need to be achieved between job growth and

housing growth. If housing growth cannot match the level of job growth, the job market will be constrained or it will

lead to higher in-commuting from beyond the district thus being unsustainable. Vice versa, if there are not enough

jobs for local workforce, then the area may suffer from a higher unemployment rate or unsustainable commuting

beyond the district.

6.5 To achieve balanced growth for the district, the existing Core Strategy sets out a General Economic Strategy

which aims to:

promote sustainable growth - plan for population growth and keep a fine balance with the development of

wider economy;

facilitate its job growth potential with a target set for additional jobs delivery;

increase the proportion of higher value added jobs whilst ensuring opportunities for all types and levels of

jobs are available in all sectors of the economy and for all the workforce.

6.6 The NPPF requires LPA's to develop a clear understanding of the business needs and markets operating

in their areas. It also seeks evidence to understand the need for land and floorspace, existing and future supply

of land for economic needs as well as understanding suitability. An Employment Growth Study and Employment

Land Review for Breckland was undertaken by Nathaniel Lichfield and Partners (NLP) to help address these issues

as identified in the NPPF. The study utilised a number of demographic and economic models as well as involving

local stakeholders to map out possible growth scenarios for the district.

6.7 At strategic level, the study identifies a number of key policy issues which include:

the need to maintain a diversified and resilient economy that is open to growth and new economic opportunities

the economic and other outcomes if some businesses are displaced or constrained from expanding

the need to encourage growth of high quality jobs within the district

balancing the trade-off between seeking more intensive use of employment sites which leads to higher job

creation and the identified business needs in the district

maintaining a delivery trajectory for employment space over the short, medium and long term.

Question 14

Do you agree with the key policy issues identified within the Employment Growth Study?

6.8 The Employment Growth Study has shown that Breckland has a steady demand for employment space,

focused upon small scale industrial accommodation. The baseline job growth revealed through the East of England

Forecasting Model (EEFM), shows a job growth of 3,952 jobs. The study recommends that Breckland should aim

to at least fully meet Breckland's employment space needs so that the district's economy is not constrained to

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 201438

6

46



facilitate the forecast job growth of 6,186 jobs between 2011 and 2031. The floorspace requirements associated

with this level of growth indicate a demand for up to 84,760 sq.m of industrial space and 29,850 sq.m of office

space over the plan period.

6.9 Three scenarios were undertaken, based on different demographic and economic assumptions. The EEFM

was utilised to project economic, demographic and housing trends in a consistent manner across the East of

England region and sub-regions. Such forecasts tend to be most reliable at national and regional scales and

consequently less so at the local economy level. As a result, in addition to the baseline scenario, an alternative

"Policy on" scenario was produced taking into account key policy priorities, regeneration and investment opportunities

for the district through stakeholder involvement to reflect a more actual picture of Breckland. The demographic-led

scenario considers how many jobs would be needed to broadly match forecast growth of the district's resident

workforce. This scenario indicates the amount of new jobs needed to take-up this future supply of workers to

minimise local unemployment.

6.10 The above scenarios were developed to provide a framework for the Employment Growth Study to consider

future economic growth needs and B Class employment space requirements in Breckland over the period to 2031.

A summary of the relationship between job growth/employment space requirement and housing growth is provided

below.

Employment Space

Requirement 2011-2031 (m
2
)

Job Growth

(jobs)

Annualised

Housing

Growth

(dwellings)

Overall

Housing

Growth

2011-2031

(dwellings)

Growth Scenarios

Office (B1a/b): 29,2703,95263412,680East of England

Forecasting Model

Baseline Industrial (B1c/B2/B8): 35,695

Office (B1a/b): 29,8506,18677015,440East of England

Forecasting Model "Policy

on" Industrial ( B1c/B2/B8): 84,760

Office (B1a/b): 7,4604,05969913,9742011 Sub-National

Population Projections

Table 6.1 Growth Scenarios

Question 15

Which scenario do you think could best reflect the future employment need of the district?

6.11 Employment space within Breckland is predominately focused around the district's five market towns.

However, despite being mainly small and micro businesses, Breckland's rural economy accommodates important

hubs of economic activity, particularly with regards to small scale office and workshop space. The spatial distribution

of existing employment space is shown in the diagram below:

39Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 2014 47



Figure 6.1 Spatial Distribution of Employment Areas

% of total site areaTotal Site Area (ha)Number of sitesLocation

7%33.64Attleborough

11%50.05Dereham

16%73.92Snetterton Heath

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 201440

6

48



% of total site areaTotal Site Area (ha)Number of sitesLocation

5%25.25Swaffham

36%173.87Thetford

6%30.14Watton

7%33.42Weeting

12%58.57Rural locations

100%47836Total

Table 6.2 Distribution of Employment Sites

6.12 A demand and supply analysis of the quantitative employment land requirement was also undertaken as

part of the Employment Study. A calculation drawn on the requirement of employment space indicates a need of

employment land between 31.6 ha and 74.7 ha until 2031. A further investigation into the existing and pipeline

supply of employment land, by comparing estimated demand for B Class uses, reveals that Breckland would have

sufficient employment space in quantitative terms up to 2031 to meet the needs arising from all scenarios as

discussed earlier.

6.13 Further research into the qualitative need of industrial space indicated that the relatively low levels of

vacancy reflect a limited supply of good quality, modern industrial space and a relatively tight industrial market in

general. However, the study concludes that due to the severity of recession, alongside relatively low rental values

and the secondary nature of Breckland as an industrial location, it is difficult to justify any significant additional

allocations of land for employment use.

6.14 Similarly, the demand for office uses is also relatively low and difficult to justify retaining remaining

undeveloped employment allocations. However, it suggests that any new provision of office accommodation should

be similar to an enterprise centre model so as to meet market demand in the district. It is also important that there

is sufficient move on space for these firms as they expand and require larger premises, in order to retain this

activity within the district.

6.15 The implications for each settlement are summarised below and illustrated in Comparison of Employment

Land Supply and Demand to 2031 by Settlement:

Attleborough and Snetterton Heath area has strong market location due to its good access onto the A11.

Significant employment pipeline from undeveloped sites. Currently sufficient land available to meet needs

up to 2031;

Dereham has the second largest commercial property market in the district. Two new employment sites

were allocated through the Site Specifics Policies and Proposals DPD, adopted in 2012. The study considers

that employment space should be rationalised within the town, especially around Rashes Green;

Thetford accommodates the majority of the commercial property market within the district. The town benefits

from its good location on the A11. Whilst there are significant employment allocations for future growth, the

employment growth study considers these to be appropriate;

The commercial property market within theWatton predominantly focuses on light industry and engineering.

The office market within the town is very small. Currently the demand/supply balance is relatively well matched,

with no identified need for additional employment space within the town.

41Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 2014 49



Figure 6.2 Comparison of Employment Land Supply and Demand to 2031 by Settlement

Question 16

Do you agree with the view of employment space supply and demand as discussed? Do you consider any

area could benefit from a particular form of employment development?

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 201442

6

50



6.16 The emerging vision includes directing economic growth to Thetford and the key A11 corridor in order to

bring prosperity, promoting existing engineering, motor sports, research and development and logistics in and

around these locations and the connections to other higher order sustainable settlements.

Question 17

Do you agree with this approach?

Are there any other reasonable and sustainable options that the Council should consider?

Sustainability Appraisal Outcome

6.17 A higher jobs growth may provide increased opportunities for a number of sustainability objectives associated

with the socio-economic needs of the the district. A higher range of figures provides increased opportunities for

local employment. There is a positive link between housing needs and employment growth to maintain a high

economic activity rate and labour supply. A higher economic growth will create more economic opportunities in

the districts and takes in to account key priorities for the district as identified in the emerging Local Plan. Whilst

the 'business as usual' scenario will continue to create opportunities for the district, this is limited to the existing

situation of past development trends and potential labour supply factors. This scenario points to a lower level of

future economic growth in Breckland than the district has achieved in the recent past, partly reflecting a more

pessimistic post- recession economic outlook. Additionally, a lower jobs growth figure may reduce local skills

levels and local labour supply and increase out-commuting, reducing the currently high local economic activity

rate, and potentially increasing currently low levels of unemployment in the district. Therefore, the lower jobs growth

figure is in conflict with a number of socio-economic sustainability objectives.

43Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 2014 51



6.3 Rural Economy

Issue 5

Rural Economy

6.18 The performance of Breckland's economy is largely dependent on a healthy rural economy. Whilst larger

scale employment space is dominated by industrial uses and tends to be concentrated around Breckland's larger

towns, the rural economy accommodates important hubs of economic activity, particularly with regards to small

scale office and workshop space.

6.19 The current approach for rural economy is set out in the Sustainable Rural Communities Policy of the Core

Strategy. The existing policy seeks to diversify existing rural enterprises and the development of new enterprises

where a rural location is either environmentally or operationally justified, provided there are no significant detrimental

environmental, landscape, conservation or highway impacts. Whilst acknowledging the importance of rural economic

development (including rural tourism), the policy also gives strong emphasis of protecting the countryside and the

environment, and promote sustainable modes of transport.

6.20 The NPPF (paragraph 28), requires planning policies to positively support economic growth in rural areas

in order to create jobs and prosperity. It has put a strong emphasis on promoting the rural economy and to support

the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business and enterprise in rural areas. It also states that the

Local Plan should support diversification of agriculture and other land-use based rural businesses, as well as rural

tourism and promote the retention and development of local services and community facilities in villages such as

local shops, meeting places, sports venues, cultural buildings, public houses and places of worship.

6.21 Rural business is now increasingly driven by technology. Creating jobs and prosperity needs wider

recognition of the trend of the agriculture sector. There has been significant growth and development in the

agri-science sector which has been continuously driving efficiency and innovation of agriculture businesses. The

overspill of high-tech research activities in this region has been enjoyed by a wide range of rural businesses in

Breckland. Small and medium scale rural enterprises represent a significant portion of the economic activities in

Breckland due to the rural nature of the district. Therefore, diverse and thriving rural enterprises contribute

significantly to the prosperity of the district, thus creating more opportunities for jobs.

6.22 The NPPF goes on to state in paragraph 69 that the planning system can play an important role in facilitating

social integration and creating healthy and inclusive communities. Community facilities such as public houses and

local shops can play a crucial social role in supporting local community interaction and activities to help maintain

sustainable neighbourhoods. They also provide an economic role in contributing to the vibrancy and vitality in rural

communities creating a strong sense of place. From an environmental perspective they often bring intrinsic value

to the cultural and historic heritage of local areas.

6.23 In particular, paragraph 70 deals with community facilities and services including public houses. It

recommends that planning policies and decisions should:

plan positively for the provision and use of shared space, community facilities (such as local shops, meeting

places, sports venues, cultural buildings, public houses and places of worship) and other local services to

enhance the sustainability of communities and residential environments;

guard against the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services, particularly where this would reduce the

community’s ability to meet its day-to-day needs;

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 201444

6

52



ensure that established shops, facilities and services are able to develop and modernise in a way that is

sustainable, and retained for the benefit of the community; and

ensure an integrated approach to considering the location of housing, economic uses and community facilities

and services.”

6.24 There are a number of ways the Local Plan could help to promote Breckland's rural economy. The Council

could investigate the following options:

Option 20

The re-use of rural buildings

Option 21

Supporting the diversification of businesses in rural areas, including agriculture

Option 22

Promoting improvements to communications infrastructure, such as better broadband

Option 23

Including planning policies for the support and development of key sectors such as tourism

Question 18

Do you support the investigation of the above options to promote Breckland's rural economy? Are there any

other alternative options you think we should be aware of?

6.25 With regard to the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services the Council could develop polices that

go some additional way to protecting rural public houses services and local shops. However it would be important

to retain an element of flexibility to be in accord with the NPPF as a whole and any polices would have to ensure

that redevelopment or change of use remained possible subject to a set of criteria being met. It is envisaged that

these would be along the lines of a sustained period of marketing, no longer any demonstraightable need and

viability reasons.

Option 24

One option is to include polices on the encouragement and protection of rural facilities and services.

45Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 2014 53



Option 25

An alternative option is to rely on Market forces to provide for rural settlements and have little control over

the retention and promotion of services in these locations

Question 19

Should the Council develop polices towards providing protection to the rural economy and community facilities

such as public houses and local shops and valued facilities?

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 201446

6

54



6.4 Town Centre and Retail Strategy

Issue 6

Town Centre and Retail Strategy

6.26 Supporting the vitality and viability of town centres remains a key objective of national retail policy. Town

centres are the heart of the community and provide for a range of community, shopping, employment and leisure

uses. Our town centres are also places to live as well as key transport and service hubs and act as key interchanges

between the market towns and their rural hinterlands. The Council also recognises the importance of retail

development in contributing to sustainable development, customer choice, helping to retain expenditure in local

communities and reducing the need to travel.

Hierarchy

6.27 National retail policy requires that Local Plans establish a hierarchy of centres in the district and that new

retail development is commensurate with the position of the centre in the hierarchy and the future economic

changes.

6.28 The 2010 Breckland Retail and Town Centre Study showed that Thetford and Dereham remain the main

centres within the district for retail and service provision, while Attleborough, Swaffham andWatton remain smaller

centres serving wide rural catchments. Local centres are important in providing for communities daily needs with

in settlements and the dispersed rural areas without having to travel to larger district and regional centres. It is

important that these centres are supported and continue to prosper.

6.29 The evidence contained in the 2010 Retail and Town Centre study indicates that it is appropriate to retain

a similar retail hierarchy as that contained in the core strategy:

Thetford - Key Centre for Development and Change

Dereham – Key Centre and Administrative Centre serving mid-Norfolk

Attleborough – Medium town centre for substantial growth, serving a wide rural catchment

Swaffham &Watton – Medium town centres – providing a range of services for local residents and their rural

catchments

Service Centre Villages – provide for basic or everyday local needs for their immediate rural catchment.

6.30 Policies will maintain the hierarchy whist maintaining and enhancing the vitality and viability of individual

centres, creating choice and individuality. Retail and other town centre development of a scale suitable to these

roles and in sustainable locations will be supported, with major retail proposals directed to Thetford, Dereham

and Attleborough as a centre for growth, provided that development respects the historic character of the districts

centres and their heritage assets in maintaining their existing retail function

Question 20

Does the retail hierarchy reflect the proposed role and function of each of the towns in Breckland? If not,

where should the towns be placed in the hierarchy?

47Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 2014 55



Understanding Retail Requirements

6.31 The NPPF requires that local planning authorities should use up to date evidence to assess needs for

economic development and retail floorspace, including both the quantitative and qualitative needs for all types of

economic activity over the plan period. A key issue for the Local Plan will be to identify and positively plan for the

full objectively assessed additional retail floorspace, to support the increase in population expenditure and capacity,

setting policies for the management of growth for the plan period, whilst supporting the viability and vitality of

existing centres.

6.32 Local service centres are important in providing for communities’ daily needs without having to travel to

higher order centres and in Breckland they serve a wider rural community than the local service centre in which

they are located in. It remains important to identify and support those centres where there is already a good level

of service provision and understand how these services may support other villages.

6.33 The 2010 Retail and Town Centre study provided an assessment of the need for new floorspace for both

comparison and convenience goods up to 2026 which is detailed below. These figures are projections based on

an established and robust methodology. Since the study was carried out in 2010, a number of planning permissions

have been granted for retail schemes in the main towns which will be developed in the next few years. This

combined with new population forecasts, expenditure growth figures and changing retail spending patterns means

that the amount of additional retail floorspace required to be planned for is likely to differ from the below projections.

Never the less they provides a useful baseline to understand the approximate future level of need in association

growth levels of the district.

Net Comparison Floorspace Sq.mNet convenience Floorspace

sq.m

Settlement

8,3631,547Thetford

8,5081,929Dereham

2,2611,536Attleborough

1,062N/aSwaffham

1,545N/aWatton

N/a92Local Shops

Table 6.3 Floorspace Retail Need Projections 2010 - 2026

6.34 Since 2010 two major convenience schemes have come forward in the district and when fully developed

will account for approximately 3,437 sq m net floor space in Thetford and a 1,970 sq m in Swaffham. A further

mixed use scheme in Attleborough is proposed containing 3,902 sq m GEA foodstore and a further 2000 sq m

GEA bulky goods.

6.35 Further updates of the Council's retail evidence will be required as the Local Plan progresses in order to

enable the use of the most up-to-date evidence and inform the plan making process.

Impact

6.36 The scale of some retail proposals outside town centres has the potential to affect the vitality and viability

of town centres, potentially diverting trade away from these areas affecting customer choice, and potentially

committed, existing and planned private investment in centres. To help understand what the effects of new retail

development outside town centres might have and guide application decisions, the government requires impact

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 201448

6

56



assessments be provided for applications for retail, leisure and office development over 2,500 sq m or a

proportionately locally set floor space threshold. Where an application is likely to have significant adverse impacts

on these criteria above applications should be refused.

6.37 The Council, through the provisions of the NPPF has the opportunity to set a proportionate locally defined

threshold above which impact assessments will be required. The Council's Retail and Town Centre study (2010)

considered the potential for a locally defined threshold and based upon the scale and role of centres and that the

retail projections within the report it is considered that the impact of smaller development proposals could raise

concerns and potentially have significant impacts in some locations. A development of 2,500 sq.m gross could

exceed or account for a significant proportion of the projected capacity for retail floor space in many of the town

centres. It is recommended that any proposals in Thetford and Dereham for over 1,000 sq.m gross of retail, leisure

or office space should be subject to an assessment. In the other towns in the district, the study indicated a threshold

of 500 sq m gross be used. This is due to the fact that in many cases, this scale of town centre developments

would exceed floorspace projections and it is important to ensure that significant impacts on these centres are

avoided.

Option 26

In order to protect the vitality and viability of town centres, the Council would require

1. An impact assessment for retail, leisure or office schemes greater than 1,000 sq.m gross in Thetford

and Dereham.

2. Impact assessments would be required in Attleborough, Watton and Swaffham on schemes of over 500

sq.m gross

Option 27

An alternative option would be for the Council to rely on the default threshold for retail impact assessments

as set out in the NPPF (i.e. Proposals greater than 2,500 sq.m).

Question 21

Should the Council implement the local threshold requirements or rely on the generic thresholds contained

in the NPPF?

Are there any other locally important impacts that should be considered when assessing retail applications?

Town Centre Boundary

6.38 National government policies indicate that site selection for most retail and other main town centre uses

should be in line with the sequential approach. Where possible town centre should be prioritised followed by edge

of town centres, and only if suitable sites are not available should well connected out of centre sites be considered.

Due to the historical nature of many of the districts town centres it may be that there are limited available sites to

accommodate new retail development. In order to judge the sequential location of a site the proximity to the Primary

Shopping Area and the Town Centre Boundaries becomes important.

49Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 2014 57



6.39 The NPPF sets out that council’s should define the extent of town centres and primary shopping areas

“based on a clear definition of primary and secondary frontages in designated town centres and set policies that

make clear which uses will be permitted in such locations”. The current boundaries are detailed in the market town

sections of this Issue and Options document and the Retail and Town Centre Study (2010) confirms that the

existing primary and secondary frontages remained relative at the time and in the most, broadly reflect the primary

shopping areas. However, the frontages and town centre boundaries are generous to encourage wider retail

development and the council may consider it appropriate to review frontage in specific areas in light of new

development and through the preparation of future planning policy to ensure they remain appropriate to inform

development and retail management policies.

6.40 As such it is recommended that the retail frontage approach be retained for the main market towns, while

in lower order centres it would be inappropriate to have primary frontage policy as it is important to provide a flexible

framework for future uses to encourage diversity and sustainable provision.

6.41 The following definitions are proposed:

Town Centre – Defined area, including the primary shopping area and areas of predominantly leisure, business

and other main town centre uses within or adjacent to the primary shopping area;

Primary Shopping Area – Defined area where retail development is concentrated, (generally comprising the

primary and those secondary frontages which are contiguous and closely related to the primary shopping

frontage);

Primary Frontage – Primary frontages are areas of mainly shops (Use Class A1).

Secondary Frontage – Secondary frontage provide greater opportunities for a diversity of uses.

Question 22

Do you agree with this approach and definitions?

Retail frontages

6.42 The current Local Plan through DC9 seeks to maintain a high proportion (75%) of Class A1 use within the

primary shopping frontages and allow up to 50% non A1 use in secondary frontages. This position was based on

the existing position in 2006.

6.43 There is growing evidence to suggest that in some centres these percentages and concentration levels of

A1 uses are no longer relevant. The council’s preferred approach would be to review the existing percentages in

line with updated evidence and set new supporting targets to guide development management decisions. This

retail frontage approach would seek to positively support retail development and town centres and maintain a mix

of town centre uses which does not allow for the dilution of main town centre uses in core areas by permitting

inappropriate uses which may damage the longer term viability and amenity of the centres. The existing primary

and secondary frontages are referenced for each market town in the specific market town sections.

6.44 We also need to recognise that Breckland centres play more than just a retail role, and retaining an

unreasonably high proportion of shops may prevent other essential services from being introduced. There may

be a case for reducing the proportion, or looking at different ways of protecting retail uses without preventing other

beneficial change.

6.45 Whilst some temporary flexibility exists within town centres over permitted development rights this remains

at this point only a temporary position therefore the policy position option reflects a long-term approach to town

centre management in seeking to main the viability and health of the town centre by protecting important frontages

for town centre uses and, in primary frontages, retail uses only.

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 201450

6

58



6.46 In considering these approaches the strategic policy is to direct growth to the Primary Shopping Areas in

the first instance, while other town centre uses should be focused within the town centre boundary.

Question 23

Is it reasonable to continue to identify and set policies to maintain the proportion of A1 uses in town

centre polices?

Shopping in Town Centres

6.47 Maintenance of existing retail diversity and the support for further retail diversity in all of the centres within

the retail hierarchy is also a key issue in the district. The NPPF requires that Local Plans promote competitive town

centres that provide customer choice and a diverse retail offer and which reflect the individuality of town centres.

The NPPF is also supportive of retaining and enhancing existing markets.

6.48 One of the ways in which planning policy can encourage retail diversity is to make sure there is a range of

sites and shop sizes available and by setting policies that allow for a mixture of small to large retail units. Given

the restrictions on town centre sites this could include policies allowing the amalgamation of units to produce larger

units, though caution is advised as this may reduce the availability of smaller units suitable for independent traders

and impact on the vibrancy and choice.

6.49 Food and drink uses add to the vitality of a centre, though their concentration can detract from the

environmental quality and if not controlled can undermine the retail function of primary shopping areas.

6.50 Large scale edge of centre developments should be well related to the town centre.

6.51 Potential policy options are outlined below. In some cases there is the opportunity to apply different

approaches in addressing the same issue and we would welcome your comments on these.

Option 28

One approach would be to develop policies which seek to control retail development through the:

Continuation of the approach set out in the current Core Strategy positively supporting retail development

and town centres by controlling the percentage amount of retail in the primary and secondary frontages;

Consideration of a policy controlling the amalgamation of smaller units to form larger more appropriate

units suitable for modern retailing purposes, where the evidence suggests this would not harm the vitality

and viability of centres;

Requirement of new large scale retail proposal to provide a proportion of additional smaller shops (uses

A1-A4), adding to the retail mix. This would go some way as adding to a sense of place and adding to

the vitality and viability of any sequential development;

51Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 2014 59



Option 29

Another approach would be to develop a more flexible approach through the consideration of:

The amount of retail frontage in association with the overall length of the frontage;

Greater clustering of Use Classes;

The benefits to wider town centre as a whole;

Support for residential uses to locate in town centres.

Question 24

Which if any of the policy approaches do you prefer?

Are there any other reasonable alternatives to be considered at this stage?

Neighbourhood Shops and New Centres

6.52 Strategic Urban Extensions are planned in Thetford and Attleborough and as the Local Plan develops

further options may be considered.

6.53 Retail development should in these cases be of a scale appropriate to the proposal, and be distributed in

a number of parades/centres being well connected to ensure all residents have access to shops within walking

distances. Local centres would allow residents to meet their needs locally. Any commercial development should

also be phased with the completion of residential units.

6.54 The 2010 retail study considered how strategic urban centres could help meet the identified capacity in the

district and recommended floorspace amounts for A class goods serving the local catchment only. Further updates

of the Council's retail evidence will be required as the Local Plan progresses in order to review the overall capacity

that could be accommodated, inform updated floorspace amounts and set polices.

6.55 There is also scope for extensions to provide for more that local need if town centre sites are not secured

and are sequentially better in the medium to long term.

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 201452

6

60



6.5 Transport Strategies

Issue 7

Transport Strategies

6.56 Achieving the full economic potential of the area is dependent on improved connectivity, including the

implementation of the priorities set out in the transport policy and maintaining and enhancing the environment and

quality of life in the area. The concept of sustainable development remains at the heart of the planning system.

Transport policies also have an important role to play in facilitating sustainable development and can contribute

to wider sustainability and health objectives.

6.57 The dispersed settlement pattern of Breckland and the high dependency on rural employment means that

ensuring sustainable access to services is amongst the most challenging spatial issues that the Council and other

service providers must address. The settlement pattern has resulted in a high dependency on travel by car,

exacerbated in part by difficulties of providing effective public transport services in rural catchment areas.

6.58 Existing policies in the adopted Core Strategy have been responding to delivering sustainable development

in a rural area by directing the majority of development to key settlements, which provide services and facilities to

their hinterlands helping to reduce the need to travel and maximising the opportunities for the delivery of sustainable

transport provision.

6.59 The NPPF sets the principle of sustainable transport and promotes sustainable transport in a number of

ways, including identifying and protecting sites and routes which could be critical in developing infrastructure to

widen transport choices. Reflecting the guidance in NPPF and the local circumstances, the key consideration of

delivering sustainable transport is to set a policy based approach encompassing the following key areas:

Enhancing the role of market towns, increasing their retail/service function to support the rural hinterland;

Reducing the need to travel in the first place;

Reduce car dependency;

Promote a sustainable pattern of development;

Facilitate the use of smart technologies.

6.60 Breckland has produced an Infrastructure Delivery Plan which includes key transport investment priorities

for the district. The investment priorities reflected the growth levels set out within the Core Strategy and included:

Improvements to Attleborough's town centre (including the gyratory)

Provision of a link road in Attleborough between the B1077 and London Road

Improvements and alterations to the A11 junctions around Thetford

Relocation of Thetford bus station

Improving rural transport options

Question 25

Are the transport investment priorities listed above appropriate to facilitate sustainable development? Is there

anything else we should consider?

53Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft July 2014 61


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	8 Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Document
	Appendix A Sections 1 - 4 Introduction
	Appendix B Section 5 Housing
	Appendix C Section 6 Economy


